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Page 14 Page 16
1 A | wasnot. 1 Q. Okay.
2 Q. How many mechanics were there? 2 Did you in your position at Atlas ever work with Versa
3 A 1believe at one time there were 12 to 14 of us. 3 valve products?
4 Q. Did you work full-time at Atlas? 4 A Yes
5 A ldid. 5 Oh, pardon, no.
é Q. Who was your supervisor at Atlas? 6 Q. Inyour position at Atlas did you ever work with belly
7 A. Originally it was Kipp Henderson. 7 dump trailers?
8 Q. Is he still there? 8 A No.
9 A Pardon? ° Q. Did you work with any type of trailer while at Atlas?
10 Q. Is he stilt at Atlas? 10 A Yes.
11 A Heis not. Atlas Contractors is no longer in 11 Q. What types?
12 business. 12 A An end dump, transfer trailers, and just like some
13 Q. When did Atlas Contractors go out of business? 13 12,000 pound flat trailers.
14 A Ibelieve it was 2013, fall or spring. 14 Q. Would you maintain and repair the end dump transfer
15 Q. s that why you ieft? 15 trailers?
16 A That's correct. 16 A Yes, maam,
17 Q. Do you know why they went out of business? 17 Q. Did you ever conduct electrical work on the end dump
18 A Economic reasons, | believe. 18 transfer trailers?
19 Q. Was your title simply mechanic or were you a 19 A Yes.
20 supervisor, can you describe for me more precisely your role? 20 Q. What type of etectrical work?
21 A When | originally was employed with Atlas 1 started as 21 A Typically repairing broken wires, lighting.
22 a mechanic and at one point in time | became a supervisor, a 22 Q. Have you ever in your time at Atlas ever fully
23 lead mechanic. 23 replaced the wiring system in an end dump transfer trailer?
24 Q. Approximately when? 24 A We have in a transfer trailer, yes.
25 A Perhaps like 2005, somewhere in that area. 25 Q. How many times?
Page 15 Page 17
1 Q. Okay. 1 A. Once for complete.
2 And how long were you in the position of lead 2 Q. Prior to 2001 where did you work?
3 supervisor? 3 A I 'worked for the City of Kiamath Falls, Klamath Falls,
! A Pretty much until the end of my employment with them 4 Oregon.
s in one respect or another. 5 Q. Let me go back. Where was Atlas Construction located?
6 Q. Okay. 6 A In Sparks.
7 And as a supervisor what were your job duties? 7 Q. So prior to that you were living in Oregon?
8 A Mainly to guide and help my other - the other 8 A lwas.
9 employees on my shift. 8 Q. What did you do for the City of Klamath Falis?
10 Q. Did you do any training of other employees? 10 A Mechanic.
1 A Yes. 11 Q. When did you start working for the City of Klamath
12 Q. What type of training did you conduct? 12 Falls?
13 A Mostly how to inspect and it depended on each job as 13 A I don't recall those dates.
4 to what was required and assess their fevel of competence and 14 Q. Do you have an estimation on the year?
15 help them understand and receive information or find it to make 15 A Well, perhaps 1997.
6 proper repairs. 16 Q. And did you leave just prior to moving to Sparks?
17 Q. Did you do electrical work while at Atlas? 17 A ldid
18 A |have, yes. 18 Q. Sothat would be approximately 2001?
15 Q. How often would you do electrical work? 19 A Correct.
20 A 1 would say at least once a week. 20 Q. Why did you leave your job at the City of Klamath
21 Q. Did you take any courses in electrical work? 21 Falls?
22 A Ihave not. 22 A Better employment.
23 Q. How did you learn how to do electrical work? 23 Q. You weren't terminated?
24 A From working with experienced mechanics and reading 24 A I'wasnot.
25 manuals. 25 Q. Atlas paid better?
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Page 18

A Yes, ma'am.

Page 20

Q. Can you describe that for me?

2 Q. Describe for me your duties as a mechanic for the 2 A Go with -~ my supervisor would come out and we would
3 city? 3 go over systems and general repair, maintenance and inspection,
4 A General maintenance and repair of the equipment within 4 adjustments, such as the handicap lifts on the buses. I was
5 the city, including pickups, dump trucks, small equipment. 5 given training on that from my supervisor and his knowledge of
6 Q. Did the city provide you with any training? 6 the electrical components and failures and diagnostics of such
7 A No. 7 with those buses.
8 Q. Did you attend any training courses while you were 8 Q. 1 presume you did not work with belly dumpers while at
9 employed by the City of Klamath Falls? Basin Transit?
1o A [ don't recall having any. 10 A Ididnot
1 Q. What kind of dump trucks were you working on? 11 Q. What about Versa valves?
12 A Ten wheel dump trucks class A. 12 A No.
13 Q. Did you work with any belly dumpers when you were -- 13 Q. Prior to Basin Transit Service can you recall where
14 A No. 14 you worked?
15 Q. What about with any Versa valves? 15 A Yes, I worked for Gastaldi and Associates Land
16 A No. 16 Surveyors.
17 Q. Prior to the City of Klamath Falls, I know we're going 17 Q. Can you spell that for me?
18 back in time quite a ways here, can you tell me where you 18 A G-a-s-t-a-I-d-i.
19 warked? 19 Q. Gastaldi?
20 A 1 worked for Basin Transit Service. 20 A Um-hum.
21 Q. Basin Transit Service? 21 Q. Gastaldi and what?
22 A Um-hum 22 A And Associates
23 Q. Where are they located? 23 Q. Land surveyors?
24 A In Klamath Falls, Oregon. 24 A Correct.
25 Q. What was your position there? 25 Q. What was your position there?
Page 19 Page 21
! A Mechanic. 1 A Land surveyor, I suppose, helper.
2 Q. What year did you approximately begin working for 2 Q. Okay.
3 Basin Transit Service? 3 Can you recall approximately when you began your work
4 A 1994 perhaps. 4 at Gastaldi and Associates?
5 Q. And did your employment end in approximately 19977 5 A Boy, that's getting so far back there.
€ A Correct. 6 Q. Can you recall approximately how many years you worked
7 Q. Can you tell me why your employment ended? 7 there?
8 A Tapplied for and received the job with the city. 8 A 1would say three to four.
9 Q. Okay. 2 Q. Okay.
10 Tell me what your job duties were at Basin Transit 10 And why did you leave that position?
1 Service? 1 A Much more stable and better pay.
2 A General maintenance and repair of transit buses 2 Q. Outside of the employers we just discussed have you
13 Q. Did Basin Transit Service provide you with any 13 held any other mechanic positions?
14 training? 14 A Yes.
1% A [ was sent to several courses involving the buses. 1s Q. With whom?
1€ Q. These are transit buses that were just operating 16 A The first one was with Tom Strong, Tom’s Equipment.
17 around Klamath Falls or were they school buses? 17 Q. Tom's Equipment?
18 A Yes, these are just operating general passengers, not 18 A Yes.
18 school. 1% Q. Where is that located?
20 Q. So the courses that you went to were in how to 20 A In Klamath Falls, Oregon.
21 maintain transit buses? 21 Q. How long were you with Tom's Equipment?
22 A Yes, component-wise like the transmissions, some 22 A Two years, | believe, approximately.
23 engine work. 23 Q. You were a mechanic there?
24 Q. Was there any on-the-job training? 24 A I 'began as a parts runner.
25 A Yes 25 Q. And worked your way up?
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Page 22 Page 24
i A Correct. ! A Not precisely. I'm sure it was January, February,
2 Q. Did they send you to any training? 2 somewhere in there.
3 A No. 3 Q. Early in the year?
4 Q. What were your job duties? 4 A Yes.
5 A Clean the shop, assist the mechanics with repairs. 5 Q. Okay.
6 Q. What type of equipment were you working on? 6 What position were you hired to perform?
7 A Mostly class A trucks. 7 A. A mechanic.
g Q. Did you work on any trailers? 8 Q. Who were you hired by?
9 A Yes. 9 A I'was hired by Tracy Shane.
10 Q. What types of trailers? 10 Q. Are there any other mechanics at MDB Trucking besides
u A Mostly logging trailers. 1 you?
12 Q. Any belly dumpers? 12 A No.
13 A No belly dumpers. 13 Q. When you started working at MDB in January or February
14 Q. Any Versa valve experience? 14 of 2013 was there any other mechanic that you worked with for
15 A No. 15 any period of time?
16 Q. Any other employer where you acted in the capacity of 16 A No.
17 mechanic that we have not yet discussed? 17 Q. Did you receive any training when you started your job
18 A. High Tech Diesel. e at MDB Trucking?
19 Q. Can you tell me approximately when you worked there? 18 A. No.
20 A Three years perhaps. 20 Q. Were you sent out to receive any training from any
2 Q. Is this in the '80s? 21 outside source when you began working for MDB Trucking?
22 A Pardon? 22 A Pardon? | don't understand.
23 Q. This is in the decade of the 1980s? 23 Q. lapologize, and thank you for telling me you didn't
2 A Yes. 24 understand. That means you were listening to my question.
25 Q. Okay. 25 Did MDB send you to any outside training courses?
Page 23 Page 25
1 What was your position there? i A No.
2 A Mechanic. 2 Q. Tell me what your job duties were when you were hired
3 Q. Tell me what types of equipment you were working on? 3 in January, February 2013 at MDB?
4 A. Class A trucks. 4 A My job duties are to maintain and repair the trucks
5 Q. Were you also working on logging trailers? 5 and trailers.
€ A Not so much there. 2 Q. How many trucks and trailers does MDB or did MDB have
K Q. Mostly - ? in its portfolio at the time you started in January or February
8 A Typically just the tractors. 8 of 20137
9 Q. Did you receive any training while at High Tech ® A 1believe there were nine.
10 Diesel? 10 Q. Nine--
1 A On-the-job, yes. 11 A Nine units or nine trucks.
12 Q. Any other training besides on-the-job training? 12 Q. So nine trucks and each of those trucks had trailers
13 A No. 13 that it hauled?
14 Q. Did you work with belly dumpers while at High Tech 14 A Carrect.
15 Diesel? 15 Q. Do you know how many trailers in total MDB had in
16 A Ididnot. 16 January or February of 20137
17 Q. What about Versa valves? 17 A. Ican't give you an exact total,
8 A No. 18 Q. But each of those nine trucks hauled trailers; is that
19 Q. Any other mechanic positions that we haven't already 19 correct?
20 discussed? 20 A Correct.
21 A. lbelieve that is it. 21 Q. What types of trucks?
22 Q. So going to your position at MDB you said you began in 2z A We have what they call the semi-tractor with a fifth
23 20137 23 wheel plate and we have transfer tractors, which are actually a
24 A lbelieve so, yes. 24 dump truck.
25 Q. Do you recall approximately what month you started? 25 Q. Before coming to work for MDB had you worked on these
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Page 26

types of tractors before?
A Tlhad
Q. And what about the trailers, what types of trailers
does MDB have?
They have bottom dump trailers.
. That would also be called a belly dumper?
Correct.
Any other type of trailers?
We have a flatbed, pneumatics and transfer. | believe

>0 >0 >

Page 28

A It was after my being hired there.

Q. Do you know what position he was hired to perform?

A My understanding was to assist me on maintenance and
to drive.

Q. Okay.

So he would split his time between those duties?

A Correct.

Q. And on average when Scott Palmer began working at MDB
how often would he assist you with maintenance duties?

e that is it. 10 A Fairly often.
u Q. Prior to coming to work at MDB had you ever worked on 11 Q. What about now, does he still assist you fairly often?
12 a bottom dump trailer before? 12 A Not as often.
13 A lhave not. 13 Q. When you began working at MDB did you receive any
L] Q. What about a flatbed trailer? 14 documents or manuals to review related to the trucks and
15 A Yes. 18 trailers that you work on?
1€ Q. What about a pneumatic? 16 A No.
17 A Yes. 17 Q. Have you ever reviewed any documents or manuals
18 No. Pardon, no, not a pneumatic. 18 related to the trucks and trailers that you work on?
19 Q. What about a transfer trailer? 19 A Havel ever?
20 A Yes. 20 Q. In your position with MDB?
21 Q. Did you receive any training on how to perform 21 A ldon't quite understand the question.
22 maintenance on a bottom dump trailer after arriving at MDB? 22 Q. Have you had occasion to review any documents or
23 A No. 23 manuals related to the trucks or trailers that you are working
24 Q. Did you do any independent training, anything on your 24 on?
25 own to prepare you for maintaining bottom dump trailers? 25 A Yes.
Page 27 Page 28
! MR. BROWN: Foundation. Go ahead. 1 Q. Can you deseribe for me any specific occasions that
? THE WITNESS: 1don't believe so, no. 2 you can recall?
3 BY MS. WOELFEL: A Suchas when I am working on the engines when I'm
4 Q. Prior to coming to work at MDB had you worked at all 4 unfamiliar, not famitiar with a certain procedure then we would
s with a product called Versa valve? s look up in a manual that particular procedure and
€ A No. & specifications -
7 Q. Did you receive any training on how to maintain a 7 Q. Okay.
8 Versa valve? 8 A --necessary.
g A No. 9 Q. Okay.
10 Q. Did you conduct any independent training on how to 10 Are there any MDB standard operating procedures that
u work with Versa vaive products? 1 are written down that you received when you began working for
12 A No. 12 MDB?
13 Q. Do you have a mechanic's assistant or anybody else 13 A Inrelation -- n regards to —
14 that performs mechanic work with you at MDB? 14 Q. In relation to your position or any manuals at all
15 A Pardon? 15 that you received?
18 Q. Is there a mechanic's assistant or anybody else that 16 MR. BROWN: Objection, vague. You can answer.
17 assists you in performing mechanic work at MDB? 17 THE WITNESS: 1 don't -- from when I was hired or to
18 A We have had some assistants and I receive assistance 18 present?
18 from Scott Palmer on occasion. 19 BY MS. WOELFEL:
20 Q. How often does Scott Palmer on average assist you with 20 Q. Well, let's start with when you were hired. When you
21 maintenance issues? 21 were hired did you receive any company manuals, anything
22 A Now or then? 22 outlining any policies or procedures from MDB Trucking?
23 Q. When did he start actually, let's go ahead -- 23 A 1don't recall receiving any.
24 A When did Scott? 24 Q. Are there any standard operating procedures related to
25 Q. Yes, was it before you or after you? 25 maintenance that you can recall receiving from MDB Trucking?
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Page 30 Page 32
1 A. No. 1 applied in this situation, whether with the switches and/or by
2 Q. Did you do any driving at any time while at MDB 2 manually, by hand.
3 Trucking? 3 Q. Okay.
1 A On occasion, yes. 4 And did he demonstrate for you how to operate it
5 Q. How often -- Well, describe for me what you do when s manually by hand?
6 you drive, ar¢ you transporting material? 6 A Correct.
7 A. Yes, typically. 7 Q. Can you tell me what he showed you or told you?
8 Q. How often are you engaged as a driver for MDB 8 A When we were over the grizzlies we could open the
9 Trucking? 9 Versa valve depending on how much room was in the grizzly,
10 A Not very often. Ichoose not to. On occasion, | 10 whether it would hold the complete trailer load or not. We
1 can't give you an exact amount of time, but typically they will 1 could open it partially by pushing in on the valve to a certain
12 need someone to fill in occasionally, so not very often. 12 degree to modulate its opening and then pushing on the palm
13 Q. Okay. 13 valve, which is attached to an accumulator that will hold the
14 Have you hauled the belly dump trailers before when 11 gate in that position until acted upon again either electrically
15 you have acted as a driver? 15 or manually on the valve.
16 A Thave, yes. 16 Q. Okay.
17 Q. Have you utilized the Versa valve in manually dumping 17 A That way we could modulate our dump to facilitate the
18 over a grizzly when you have acted as a driver? 18 space available in the grizzly.
19 A Tlhave. 19 Q. Okay.
20 Q. Canyou walk me through ~ I want to talk about when 20 So you're standing outside of your cab next to the
21 you have acted as a driver and you have operated the Versa valve 21 Versa valve and you're pushing on the handle; is that right?
22 and you have dumped over a grizzly, did you operate the Versa 22 A That is correct.
23 valve manually or through the switch in the cab? 23 Q. Okay.
24 A Both depending upon the situation. 24 And it opens partially; is that right?
25 Q. Did you receive any training on how to manually 25 I'm breaking it down into plain English, because
Page 31 Page 33
1 operate the Versa valve? 1 you're using a lot of big words here, and then what you're
2 A Yes, [ did. 2 describing is then you would open it all the way; is that right?
3 Q. From whom? 3 A. Correct.
4 A From Tracy Shane. 4 Q. What would you do after all of the material comes out?
s Q. When did Tracy Shane provide you training on how to 5 A Pull forward onto the grizzlies with the next trailer.
§ manually operate the Versa valve? 6 Q. Would you close the trailer before you would get in
7 A When? 7 the cab and pull forward?
8 Q. Yes. 8 A No,1would get in the cab and pull forward and
s activate the switch that electrically opens and then closes the

A Asin an exact date?

Q. As in give me your best approximation, was it shortly
after you first started working?

A Twould say probably six months afterwards when he
first asked me to fill in as a driver.

Q. So six months after you started working as a mechanic
Tracy asked you to fill in as a driver?

A Approximately, yes.

Q. When he asked you to fill in as a driver he gave you
training on how to operate the Versa valve?

A Correct.

Q. Can you describe for me the training that you
received?

A Yes, the training consisted of we drove the truck
together. He was with me, loaded it, checked our equipment,
returned to Cemex to dump the load over the grizzlies. At that
point in time he instructed me on how the Versa valve was

gates
Q. So you would not close the gates manually, you would

go into the cab and then you would -

A Correct.

Q - flip the switch and that would close it?

A. Twould tum the switch to the on position and then
return it to the off position and closing the cover at the same
time and allowing -- that allows the gates to close
clectrically.

Q. Okay.

And then you would pull forward?

A Um-hum.

Q. And do the same thing again?

A Correct.

Q. And then after that you would do the same thing one
more time?

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com

AA000317




Patrick Bigby

April 10, 2017

10 (Pages 34 to 37)

Page 34 Page 36

B A Correct. i in-house?

2 Q. Okay. 2 A Typically, yes.

3 How many times did Tracy Shane drive with you? 3 Q. Can you tell me do you work full-time for MDB?

4 A We made, | believe, two complete rounds 4 A ldo.

5 Q. Can you tel] me how many trips you have taken on your 5 Q. Forty hours a week?

6 own without Tracy? € A Yes.

1 A Oh, since that time, 40, 50, somewhere in there. K Q. Is that Monday through Friday?

8 Q. Have you always dumped over the grizzly in the same 8 A VYes,itis.

9 manner that you just described? 9 Q. Talk to me about sort of your typical schedule when
10 A I personally have, yes. 10 you are working in the maintenance department, what does a
1 Q. Did you receive any written materials to review on how 1 typical day look like for you?

12 to operate a Versa valve prior to beginning your work as a 12 A Atypical day --

13 driver? 13 Q. What time do you arrive?

11 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation. 14 A -- can be varied depends on the workload, the trucks

15 THE WITNESS: No. 15 and what we have pending for repair.

16 BY MS. WOELFEL: 16 Q. What time do you typically armive for work?

1 Q. Atany time did you receive any materials on how to 17 A | typically arrive at 8:00 o'clock.

18 operate a Versa valve? 18 Q. Are most of your drivers already out in the field at

19 A No. 19 that time?

20 Q. Was there any group training that you were involved in 20 A Yes.

21 on how to operate a Versa vajve? 21 Q. And is it typical that you will have some sort of

22 A No. 22 standard maintenance or some repair on a truck or trailer to do

23 Q. Now you said that you personally operated the Versa 23 each day?

24 valve in that manner. Are you aware of other people operating 24 A That is what we try to do, yes.

25 the Versa valve differently at MDB Trucking? 25 Q. What is the standard maintenance pracess for MDB
Page 35 Page 37

i A I cannot say how they operate them. The way | L trucks and trailers?

2 operated them was manually to ensure that [ didn't miss the 2 A Standard maintenance?

3 grizzly and spread material on the approach. 3 Q. Yes, do you have a standard maintenance protocol, do

4 Q. And the way that you closed the bottom dumper by going 4 you check them every week, every month, is there some sort of a

5 in the cab and shutting it there, do you know if that is the way 5 standard protocol for the maintenance department?

6 that everybody did it or just the way that you did it? € A Wetry to look at them once every two weeks at a

7 A Well, that's the way it was intended or what Tracy 7 minimurm.

8 Shane implied I should do to properly close that gate. 8 Q. And what does that mean to look at them, does that —

$ Q. Did he explain why that was important or not $ A We bring them in, we inspect and Jubricate the
10 important? 10 equipment.
1n A No. 1 Q. And what does an inspection involve?

12 Q. Are you involved in setting any training protocol for 12 A An inspection involves visually fooking for any

13 any other employees at MDB Trucking? 13 issues, broken parts, worn-out brakes, inoperative lights,

14 A No. b unsecured components, make sure all functions are correct.
15 Q. Do you perform all of the maintenance on the trucks 15 Q. Isitavisual inspection or are you

16 and trailers that MDB Trucking operates, do you perform the 16 A 1ts mostly visual. Some of it is physical.

17 maintenance on that in-house or do you ever send it out for 17 Q. What part is physical?

8 work? 18 A Such as the brakes, we check the length of the brake
19 A We typically do most of it in-house. However, there 19 to make sure it's within the specified distance for a foundation
20 is some that is sent out on repairs. 20 brake

21 Q. What types of repairs would you send out to someone 21 Q. Do you conduct annual inspections?

22 else to perform? 22 A Yes.

23 A Typically like engines and transmissions, the things 23 Q. Describe for me what the annua) inspections involve?
24 that | do not have the tooling for we send out. 24 A Well, the annual inspections involve pretty much the
25 25 same as & weekly or biweekly inspection, just making certain

Q. Do you typically do all of the electrical work
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Page 38 Page 40
1 that we have all of our safety equipment, windshields, 1 BY MS. WOELFEL;
2 windshield wipers, motors, engines and such like that, brakes, 2 Q. Okay.
3 securement, 3 Do you conduct — outside of the maintenance process
4 Q. Do you check the wiring as part of your inspections 4 that you described where you try to see each vehicle every other
5 every other week? s week, do you conduct any random inspections of trucks or
6 MR. BROWN: Vague, go ahead. 6 trailers?
7 THE WITNESS: Would you explain or more detail? 1 A The random inspections are continuous on the yard
8 BY MS. WOELFEL: 8 bringing them in or you're always looking underneath the trucks.
9 Q. If you were inspecting a belly dump trailer do you 9 It's more like when you get your CDL, part of your walk around
10 inspect any of the wiring on your multi-week inspections? 10 inspection and being 8 mechanic you are constantly looking for
1 A. No, we -- as we go through it there's a lot of wires n something, whether it's a puddle on the ground or a broken lamp
12 that you cannot see. We visually inspect any that are exposed, 12 or something not secured.
13 that's just part of what we do. If we see something odd hanging 13 Q. So are you physically out walking amongst --
14 down, unsecured, we inspect it, resecure it and make sure that 14 A On occasion we do, yes.
15 it's proper. 15 Q. And outside of that are you receiving reports from the
16 Q. Do you ever inspect the wiring that is not exposed? 16 drivers regarding issues that they are having with their
17 A No. 17 vehicles?
18 Q. So during your annual inspections you're not checking 18 A 1 don't personally receive the reports. Scott Palmer
19 the wiring that runs through the bars? 18 does.
20 A No. 20 Q. How do you receive the reports or the work orders?
21 Q. Is there any type of regular maintenance conducted on 21 A. Tmdirected by Scott Palmer.
22 the electrical system of the trucks? 22 Q. Well, how will you receive or how do you typically
23 A Maintenance? 23 receive a work order from Scott, do you have a standard meeting
24 Q. Yes, regular maintenance. 24 time where the two of you get together or does he leave them for
25 A Such as checking the alternator and the batteries, 25 you in a certain location, how do you obtain the information
Page 39 Page 41
1 yes, we do that. 1 that -
2 Q. What about the electrical system of the various 2 A It depends on the repair necessary. [ will either
3 trailers that MDB owns or leases? 3 receive them in the evening for repair that evening or typically
4 A With the trailers again we inspect to make sure that 4 we will meet in the momings prior to going into the shop and
5 the wires are secured and that we don't have any that we see or 5 discuss the needs for maintenance and repairs.
6 know of creating shorts or are in poor condition, any abrasions 6 Q. And do the two of you discuss prioritizing what you're
7 that we can see. 7 going to work on or who makes that decision of what you're going
8 Q. Are you involved in confirming whether or not the & to work on for the day?
g driver's conduct their daily inspections of the trucks and 9 A Scott typically makes that decision.
10 trailers that they are driving? 10 Q. Before Scott began working at MDB was Tracy the person
11 A Tamnot 1 that you were directed by?
12 Q. Do you know how the company ensures, if they do at 12 A Yes.
13 all, that their drivers are adequately maintaining their 13 Q. And did Scott take Tracy's place? Did Scott move into
14 vehicles? 14 Tracy's position when Tracy lefi the company?
15 MR. BROWN: Objection, compound. 15 A Yes.
16 THE WITNESS: | don'i understand what you're asking 16 Q. Do you know Daniel Koski?
17 there. 17 A 1do know Dan,
18 BY MS. WOELFEL: 18 Q. How long did you work with him?
19 Q. Sure. 19 A. Since | hired on at MDB until the time that he left.
20 Is there anything that you're aware of that MDB does 20 Q. So he had been there prior to your arrival?
21 to make sure that its drivers are adequately inspecting their 2L A Correct.
22 vehicles on a daily basis? 22 Q. Are you aware of the two dump incidents that Mr. Koski
23 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation. 23 was involved in?
24 THE WITNESS: 1don't recall. I don't know if there 24 A lam,
25 is or isn't. 25 Q. Were you working for MDB in July of 2013?
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Page 42 Page 44
1 A Iwas. 1 A No.
Q. And also in July of 2014 during the second dump 2 Q. Have you seen any maintenance documents related to
3 incident? 3 this trailer from the time before MDB took possession of the
4 A Yes 4 trailer?
5 Q. Other than those two dump incidents that we will 5 A I have not.
6 discuss, are you aware of any other inadverntent dumps during € Q. Do you know if the wiring on that trailer is original,
7 your time at MDB Trucking? 7 and I'm talking about when MDB first took possession of the
8 A No. trailer, do you know if the wiring that was on the trailer was
9 MR. BROWN: Object, vague. 9 original or not?
10 BY MS. WOELFEL: 10 A I could not say either way.
11 Q. I'm going to refer to the trailer that Mr. Koski was 1 Q. Do you have any information regarding whether or not
12 pulling that opened up in July of 2013 as trailer 6775. Do you 12 trailer 6775 had ever been involved in an accident prior to MDB
13 recall if that's the number that that trailer was assigned? 13 acquiring it?
14 A lbelieve it would be one of those numbers. That 14 A [ would have no knowledge.
15 exact number, T would have to look at a work order or something. 15 Q. Do you have any knowledge of whether trailer 6775 had
16 Q. 1 will show you some, but I will represent to you that 16 ever had any other inadvertent dump prior to MDB acquiring it?
17 it's trailer 6775. 17 A 1have no knowledge of that, no.
i8 Do you know when this trailer first came into MDB's 18 Q. Do you know if MDB made any efforts to evaluate the
18 possession, the trailer that was involved in the dump incident i9 state or condition of the electrical connections on trailer 6775
20 in July of 20137 20 before it acquired it?
21 A ldon't know the exact date. 2 MR. BROWN: Objection, vague.
2z Q. Was it in MDB's possession when you began work -~ 22 THE WITNESS: I don't recall.
23 A No. 23 BY MS. WOELFEL:
24 Q -—atMDB? 24 Q. Do you have any knowledge of whether the Versa valve
25 Trailer 6775 was not in MDB's possession when you 25 included with trailer 6775 was the original Versa valve
Page 43 Page 45
! first started working? ! installed on that trailer?
2 A To the best of my knowledge it was not. 2 MR. BROWN: Objection, vague.
3 Q. So the lease or purchase of that trailer occurred 3 THE WITNESS: [ could not say that it was original or
4 after you had started working at MDB,; is that correct? 4 not,
s A 1believe so. 5 BY MS. WOELFEL:
6 Q. Okay. 6 Q. Do you know if trailer 6775 was painted by MDB when it
7 Were you involved in the process of ~ Let me back up. ? was acquired?
5 Do you know if MDB inspected this trailer before it 8 A Painted?
9 leased or purchased it in 2013? 9 Q. Painted.
10 A 1donot believe so. Ifit were it was not with me. 1o A It was not painted.
1 Q. Okay. i1 Q. Has the trailer been painted or repainted at all since
12 Do you know who the trailer was purchased or leased 12 it's been in MDB's possession?
13 fram? 13 A No
14 A Ican't say with any authority. 14 MS. WOELFEL: Let's go ahead and mark that as
15 Q. Do you know how old trailer 6775 was when it was 5 Exhibit 1.
16 purchased or leased by MDB Trucking? 16 (Exhibit 1 was marked.)
17 A ldonot 17 BY MS. WOELFEL:
is Q. Were you involved in the purchase or the lease or the 18 Q. Exhibit | is a document Bates labeled MDB 723, Have
9 acquisition of the trailer in any way? 19 you ever scen this document before?
20 A. No. 20 A lhave not.
21 Q. You didn't inspect the trailer prior to MDB taking 21 Q. Okay.
22 possession of the trailer? 22 The date on this invoice is February 25, 2014, and 1
23 A Ididnot. 23 will represent to you that this is an invoice for the sale of
24 Q. And you reviewed no documents associated with the 24 two Ranco trailer sets from Western Nevada Transport to MDB, and
25 trailer? 25 one of the trailer sets involves trailer 6773, 6774, and 6775
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Page 46

and the other is 6776, 6777 and 6778, Are you familiar with

Page 48

A 1 was never able to duplicate it.

2 those two trailer sets? 2 Q. Tell me what you did in order to try to duplicate that
3 A Yes 3 event?
4 MR. BROWN: Objection, vague. 4 A My original thoughts on the process was 10 be a short
5 BY MS. WOELFEL: s inside the electrical system. So I turned on the lights and
6 Q. And do you know if the trailers were being leased 6 then went back through the trailers trying to move, shake,
7 before they were purchased by MDB, do you have any knowledge of ’ rattle, create a short, if it were to be one, within that system
8 that? 8 and to be able to observe the gates opening uncommanded, and it
9 A No 9 was a combination of lighting, brake lights, tumn signals,
0 Q. When they were purchased in or around February of 2014 10 emergency flashers, even though those weren't used at the time,
1 did you conduct or were you involved in conducting any specific I anything within my electrical system from the trailers and
12 inspections of these trailers prior to purchase? 12 tractor. I tried every combination I could think of to try to
13 A No. 13 duplicate this issue and was not successful.
14 Q. So I want to talk to you about the July 2013 incident 14 Q. Okay.
13 involving Mr. Koski and the inadvertent dump that occurred. Do 15 Did you work with anyone in trying to do these, I
16 you have knowledge of that incident? 16 don't want to call them experiments, but in your investigation
17 A T have knowledge of it occurring, yes. 17 and trying to duplicate, did you have an assistant to maybe work
18 Q. And you had been with the company for approximately 18 with you or were you working alone?
ie six months; is that correct? 19 A Occasionally | would have Tracy Shane give me a hand
20 A Possibly, yes. 20 such as operating from the tractor while | was back observing on
21 Q. How did you become aware of the July 2013 incident 21 the trailer.
22 involving Mr. Koski? 22 Q. How long did this work last in trying to duplicate the
23 A | was notified by Tracy Shane. 23 event?
24 Q. Were you working on the date that this incident 24 A Tcan't be specific, but it was quite some time.
25 occurred? 25 Q. Can you estimate, was it a matter of days or a matter
Page 47 Page 49
1 A believe I was, yes. 1 of hours?
Q. And how were you notified by Tracy Shane, did he call 2 A Oh, it was at least one to two days.
3 you or did you see him in person? 3 Q. So in your inspection you were unable to recreate any
4 A lbelieve it was in person, but I'm not certain. 4 type of electrical short that would open the belly dumper, is
5 Q. What did Tracy Shane say to you? s that correct?
8 A That the rear trailer of Dan Koski's set had deployed 6 A That is correct.
7 on the road. 7 Q. Did you conduct a visual inspection of the truck and
8 Q. Did he tell you anything else? 8 trailers to see if there was anything visually wrong?
9 A We did not go into any details, no. s A. Yes.
10 Q. Did you discuss conducting an investigation to 10 Q. Did you see anything visually wrong?
1 determine why the incident had occurred? 11 A ldidnot.
12 A Not at that time, that exact time, if that's what 12 Q. Did you conduct any sort of inspection on the Versa
13 you're referring to, but it was discussed 13 valve?
14 Q. When did you have that discussion about conducting an 14 A Just visually at that time,
15 investigation? 15 Q. Did you sec anything wrong with the Versa valve?
16 A | believe it was afler the truck and trailers were 16 A Tdidnot.
17 returned to the yard and we discussed what our course of action 17 Q. Did you conduct any testing on the Versa valve?
18 was to be on this. 18 A No.
19 Q. And can you describe for me what specifically you 19 Q. Did you believe that there was a problem with the
20 discussed with regard to what your course of action would be? 20 Versa valve?
21 A Originally the discussion was to try to determine of 21 A 1did not believe there was at the time.
22 try to duplicate this uncommanded opening of that gate. 22 Q. Did you interview Daniel Koski about why the dump
23 Q. Did you attempt to duplicate the uncommanded opening? 23 occurred or what was taking place when the dump occurred?
24 A Idid 24 A | don't recall interviewing, but I may have spoken
25 Q. Were you able to duplicate it? 25 with him at least to get the situation, like what lights were on
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Page 50 Page 52
1 perhaps. B again after your tests were run in July of 2013?
2 Q. Did you take any notes regarding your conversation 2 A Yes.
3 with Mr. Koski? Q. What actions did you take?
§ A No, ma'am. 4 A My actions were to completely isolate the wiring of
3 Q. Do you know if the trailer stayed in service for any 3 the tractor and trailer, remove or not use, I should say, not
6 period of time after the incident occurred that day? € use the wires that were originally installed for the purpose and
i A Pardon? 7 we ran independent wires from the tractor battery back through
8 Q. Do you know if the traifer in July of 2013 after it 8 each trailer to the Versa valves.
s had the dump take place, do you know if it stayed in service for 9 Q. So you believed that it could have been a wiring
10 any period of time before it was returned to the yard? 10 problem that led to the —
11 A No, I don't believe so. 1 A There was still the possibility.
12 Q. Did you come to any conclusions after your testing of 12 Q -- incident?
13 the electrical system? 13 MR. BROWN: Wait until she finishes asking her
14 A No. 14 question, even though you know what she is asking and so she
15 Q. Did you put together any documentation describing the 15 gets everything down.
16 tests that you ran? 16 MS. WOELFEL: You're doing a good job, but thank you,
17 A ldidnot. 17 Brian.
18 Q. Did you evaluate or test the air system as part of 18 BY MS. WOELFEL:
19 your tests? 19 Q. What led you to the conclusion that the wiring should
20 A Yes. 20 be changed?
21 Q. Tell me what you did with respect to the air system? 21 A Well--
22 A Built air, make sure that it would maintain air 2z MR. BROWN: Object, misstates his testimony. Go
23 pressure, maintain - or confirm that air was getting to the 23 ahead.
24 valve, passing through the valve and holding the gates closed 24 THE WITNESS: 1t was the theory of a short in the
25 and that it would also open and hold the gates open so there was 25 original or the existing wiring that may have caused this
Page 51 Page 53
1 adequate air pressure. 1 accidental uncommanded opening.
2 Q. Did you reach any conclusions after that test with 2 BY MS. WOELFEL:
3 respect to the air system? 3 Q. And in your tests you were unable to recreate a short,
1 A Any conclusion or a negative conclusion? 4 correct?
5 Q. Any conclusion at ali? 5 A Correct.
¢ A Atthat time after running that test the conclusion € Q. So there was no evidence that you were able to find
7 was 1 had not found an issue. 7 that suggested that there actually was a short in the wiring; is
8 Q. Did you tatk to Mr. Koski about any of the previous 8 that correct?
9 dumps that he had performed that day leading up to the accident? 9 A That is correct.
10 A No. 10 Q. When you rewired or when you removed the wiring from
11 Q. Did you evaluate whether or not Mr, Koski may have " the trailer 6775 did you inspect the wiring after it was
12 made an error that led to the inadvertent dump? 12 removed?
13 A That would not be my position to make such evaluation. 13 A The wire at that time was not removed. | merely
14 Q. Is that something that you considered when you were 14 eliminated the wires ~ eliminated the use of the wires that
15 trying to figure out how this incident occurred, did you 15 were existing.
16 consider whether or not Mr. Koski had made an error? 16 Q. So you didn't actually pull the wires that existed in
17 A 1believe in human nature it would be — that would 17 the trailer at the time that the incident occurred, you didn’t
18 still have to be thought of, yes. 18 pult that all out; is that correct?
i9 Q. Did you do anything to explore whether or not 19 A Thatis correct.
20 Mr. Koski made an error? 20 Q. You just included different wires and left the old
21 A 1did not personally, no 21 wires in the trailer?
22 Q. Did you reach any conclusion at all as to the cause of 22 A Correct.
23 the incident in July of 20137 23 Q. So you did not perform any sort of inspection on the
24 A No. 24 wires, visual inspection of the wires that were in the trailer
25 Q. Did you take any action to prevent this from occurring 25 after the incident occurred?

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com

AAQ00322




Patrick Bigby

April 10, 2017

15 (Pages 54 to 57)

Page 54 Page 56
1 MR. BROWN: Object, vague, misstates his testimony. i A T'm not certain of the date it went back into service.
2 THE WITNESS: That's correct, 1 did not. 2 Q. But pretty shortly thereafier?
3 BY MS. WOELFEL: 3 A. Pardon?
4 Q. Those wires, are they still in trailer 6775, the wires 4 Q. 1t went in shortly thereafter; is that right?
s that were original to the trailer when MDB acquired it? 5 A lcan'trecall.
6 A Ibelieve they may still be, yes. 6 Q. Okay.
7 Q. When you were inspecting trailer 6775 after the 7 Did you rewire all of the rest of the belly dump
8 July 2013 incident did you identify any problems with the way 8 trailers in the same manner in which you rewired trailer 67757
9 that the trailer was manufactured that you believe contributed 9 A Ibelieve I did, but I'm not positive.
10 to the unauthorized dump? 10 Q. And how would we determine whether or not you rewired
1 A. Can you rephrase that, please? 1 the rest of the trailers?
12 Q. Sure, I will repeat it. 12 A. We would have to go through the work orders.
13 When you were conducting your tests and your 13 Q. If there is no work orders demonstrating that you
14 inspection of the trailer after the July 2013 incident took 14 rewired the remainder of the trailers then does that suggest to
15 place did you identify any probiems with the way that the 15 you that you did not do it?
16 trailer was manufactured that you believe could have led to the 16 A It would suggest that | personally may not have done
17 unauthorized dump? 17 it, but it may have been done.
18 MR. BROWN: Object to the extent it calls for 18 Q. Did you direct anybody to rewire the remainder of the
19 speculation. 19 trailers after the July 2013 incident?
20 THE WITNESS: No. 20 A. I'made no directive, but it would be perhaps Scott
21 BY MS. WOELFEL: 21 Palmer may have done one.
22 Q. Inyour work with trailer 6775 after the incident and 22 Q. Okay.
23 your testing were you able to identify any problems with the 23 Are you aware that trailer 6775 has bottom gate
24 design of the trailer that you believe contributed to the 24 chains, do you know what those are?
25 unauthorized dump in July of 2013? 28 A Yes.
Page 55 Page 57
! MR. BROWN: Same objection, calls for specuiation. ! Q. What are they used for?
2 THE WITNESS: Potentially. 2 A My understanding?
3 BY MS. WOELFEL: 3 Q. Yes.
4 Q. Okay. 1 A For spreading material to limit the opening of the
5 What potentially did you believe with respect to the 5 gate,
6 design? € Q. Have you ever used bottom gate chains before when you
7 A Run the seven -- the activation wires with the wires 7 have been driving?
for the lights and brakes and ABS ail in one loom the potential 8 A No.
9 for a short exists. 9 Q. Have you ever had any training on the use of bottom
10 Q. And that was your working theory when you were 10 gate chains?
11 conducting your tests? n A No.
12 A Correct. 12 Q. Did you ever have any discussions with anybody about
13 Q. You were unable to find any shorts in your inspection; 13 utilizing the bottom gate chains while driving to prevent a
u correct? 14 belly dumper from opening all the way while on the road?
15 A Correct, 15 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation.
16 Q. Now, if you thought that there was a problem with the 16 THE WITNESS: I personally haven't had any
17 design of the trailer would you continue to run the unit, 17 conversation like that, no.
18 meaning if you thought there was a safety issue would you put it 18 BY MS. WOELFEL:
19 back on the road? 18 Q. Was the Versa valve replaced after the July 2013
20 A No. 20 incident?
21 Q. And this trailer went back on the road; is that 21 A Yes, it was.
22 correct? 22 Q. Why did you replace the Versa valve?
23 A Thatis correct. 23 A Gereral principles. We did not find a failure, but
2 Q. Itwent back on the road the next day after the July 24 perhaps there was an issue with the valve that [ was unaware of.
25 25 Q. Did you purchase the same type of Versa valve?

2013 incident; isn't that right?
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Page 58 Page 60
1 A Yes. 1 who had the previous dump a year ago, was there any concern
2 Q. Were you the person that instailed the Versa valve 2 about that?
3 once it - once you received the new one? 3 A We didn't discuss any of that, no, but it may have
4 A Yes 4 been mentioned that it was Dan. I'm sure it would have been.
5 Q. Had you ever installed a Versa valve before coming to s Q. Did you inspect the truck after it returned to the
6 work at MDB? € site, the MDB site?
7 A No. ? A Yes.
8 Q. Did you receive any training with respect to the 8 Q. And you inspected the trailer that had inadvertently
g installation of the Versa valve? 9 opened?
10 A No. 10 A Correct.
1 Q. Did you read the manual or read any manual on how to e Q. Was anybody else involved in the inspection?
12 install a Versa valve? 12 A 1believe Scott Palmer.
13 A I'm unaware that there is a manual for that. 13 Q. Did you inspect it on the same day that the incident
" Q. Soyou did not read any manuals prior to installing u occurred?
15 it? 15 A 1 believe we initially did, yes.
16 A ldidnot. 16 Q. Describe for me what you did during that inspection?
17 Q. Solwant to move to the July 2014 incident involving 1 A 1believe we checked our connections, made sure the
18 Mr. Koski. Can you tell me how you became aware of the 18 4-ways were proper. If I recali | think we turned on the brakes
15 July 7th, 2014 incident? 18 and the lights and such and see if we could not get an
20 A 1 was informed by Tracy Shane. 20 uncommanded opening,
21 Q. Were you working that day? 21 Q. Did you find anything wreng?
22 A Twas. 22 A No, ma'am.
23 Q. Okay. 23 Q. Did you conduct any other type of investigation
24 And how did you learn from Tracy Shane that this 24 related to how this opening occurred?
25 incident had taken place? 25 A From that time?
Page 59 Page 61
1 A Pardon? 1 Q. Yes.
2 Q  How did you learn from Tracy Shane, did he call you, 2 A No.
3 did you see him in person, can you recail how he conveyed the 3 Q. So you did an inspection With Scott Patmer you believe
4 information regarding the incident to you? 4 on the same day that the incident occurred?
5 A 1believe it was in person in the shop 5 A 1believe so, but I'm not certain of that.
6 Q. And what did he say to you? 6 Q. And after that -- how long did that inspection take?
7 A 1 cannot recall the exact words. 7 A An hour, two hours.
8 Q. Do you know what kind of material was being hauled by 8 Q. Did you do any other inspection or testing on the
9 Mr. Koski on July 7th, 20147 9 trailer at issue after that one to two hour inspection with
10 A No, | was unaware. 10 Scott Palmer?
11 Q. Did Tracy Shane indicate to you whether or not there n A At that point in time we put mechanical lockouts on
12 had been injuries as a result of the incident? 12 it.
13 A He did not indicate anything about injury. 13 Q. So you were not able to discover any type of an
14 Q. Tell me what he told you when he first spoke with you 14 electrical short that would have led to the incident, is that
s about this incident? 15 correct?
16 A Ma'am, that is quite a while ago. 1can't tell you 16 A Thatis correct.
17 verbatim. 17 Q. And whose idea was it to come up with a mechanical
18 Q. Can you give me your best recoliection regarding what 18 lockout system?
18 you discussed? 19 A That would be Scott Palmer.
20 A The best 1 could say is that the gates had opened on 20 Q. 'wantto go back to your one to two hour inspection.
2 his trailer on 1-80. 21 Can you walk me through each thing that you did during that
22 Q. Any discussion about how that happened, did you and 22 inspection?
23 Tracy discuss the reason for the opening? 23 A We started at the tractor, the source of the power,
24 A No, we didn't know the reason. 24 checked the connections at the battery and then | believe we
2% 25 went into the cab and checked the wiring behind the panel to

Q. Did you discuss the fact that it was the same person
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Page 62 Page 64
1 make sure we didn't have any wires come loose from the toggle 1 the mechanical lockout device?
2 switches, which we did not, and then we checked the wiring to 2 A Ona few of them, yes.
3 the deck of the trailer or the tractor looking for any abrasions 3 Q. Did you or Scott Palmer or somebody else design the
4 and stress to the wiring, which there was none. 4 mechanical lockout device?
5 Then we checked from the tractor to the trailer, the 5 A It's my understanding that Scott Palmer had seen these
€ cord to make sure it hadn't been abraded on the deck or any § devices and whether he designed it or copied it, I do not know.
7 other way of crossing, even though theoretically there is no 7 Q. Did you have any discussion with him about the devices
8 power on there unless the switch is tumed on. We inspected the 8 before the decision was made to utilize them?
9 wires as best we could following the trailer to make sure that 9 A No.
10 they hadn't rubbed through on top of another wire that 10 Q. Were you involved in installing the mechanical lockout
11 potentially might have been hot creating a circuit all the way 1 devices into the Versa valves on the various trailers?
12 through to that last valve. 12 A Yes.
13 Q. Did you see any evidence ~ 13 Q. Did you guys -- did MDB institute -- Scratch that.
14 A No, ma'am. 14 After July 7, 2014 did MDB require that al} trailers
15 Q --of any hot spots or anything, nothing? 15 have a mechanical lockout in place before they were able to be
16 A No. 16 put on the road?
17 Q. So you were unable to determine the cause of the 17 A That's my understanding, yes.
18 inadvertent dump? 18 Q. Were you able to reach any conclusion as to the cause
19 A Correct. 19 of the July 7th, 2014 inadvertent dump?
20 Q. Did you talk to Mr. Koski about anything that he might 20 A No.
21 have done to cause the inadvertent dump? 21 Q. Going back to the July 2013 dump, | had asked you if
22 A. ldid not. 22 you had replaced the Versa valve. Do you recall that?
23 Q. Do you know if Scott Palmer did? 23 A Um-hum,
24 A. 1do not know whether he did or did not. 24 Q. Yes?
25 Q. Did you run any tests on the Versa valve following the 25 A Yes.
Page 63 Page 65
1 July 7th, 2014 event? 1 Q. And you told me that you did replace the Versa valve.
2 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation, 2 What did you do to the Versa valve that you removed from trailer
3 THE WITNESS: No. 3 67757
4 BY MS. WOELFEL: 4 A 1believe we disposed of it.
5 Q. Did you evaluate or test the air system? 5 Q. Okay.
6 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation. 6 When you were inspecting trailer 6775 after the
7 THE WITNESS: Idon't recall. |think we assumed that 7 July 7th, 2014 incident did you identify any problems with the
8 it was fine, because it still had air. 8 way the trailer was manufactured that you believe contributed to
8 BY MS. WOELFEL: 9 the unauthorized dump?
10 Q. What do you mean it still had air? 10 A At thai the time, no.
11 A From the trailer when it arrived when we were looking 1 Q. Do you believe that there is a problem as you sit here
12 at it the air tank that operates the valves or the gates was 12 today with the way trailer 6775 was manufactured that
13 stil} full of air, had air pressure. 13 contributed to the unauthorized dump?
14 Q. So because of that you didn't conduct any other tests 14 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation, calls for expert
15 on the air system? 15 opinion.
16 A 1did not see any need at that moment. 16 THE WITNESS: No.
17 Q. Did you speak with the police department or anyone 17 BY MS. WOELFEL.:
18 else about this incident? 18 Q. In your work after July 7, 2014 on trailer 6775 have
18 A No. 19 you been able to identify any problems with the design of the
20 Q. Now describe for me the decision to use the mechanical 20 trailer that you believe contributed to the July 7, 2014
21 tockout system, did you participate in that decision at al}? 21 unauthorized dump?
22 A No, I was unaware of those particular devices of 22 MR. BROWN: Same objection.
23 varying degrees, otherwise we probably would have put it on the 23 THE WITNESS: No.
24 first set the first time. 24 MS. WOELFEL: We have been going for about an hour and
25 Q. Did you help with the fabrication of those devices, 25 ahalf. Why don't we take a five-minute break.
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Page 66 Page 68
1 THE WITNESS: Okay. ! theory of why those two occurred on the same day?
2 MS. WOELFEL: Thank you very much. 2 A There are several theories, or at least one prevalent
3 (A recess was taken.) 3 theory, but again it's just theory.
4 BY MS. WOELFEL.: 4 Q. What is that theory?
5 Q. Back on the record. 5 A I have no way to explore that.
6 So | want to talk to you about the second inadvertent 6 Q. Can you describe what that theory is?
7 dump that took place on July 7th, 2014 involving Scott Palmer. 7 A My prevalent theory is that we have an atmospheric
8 Are you aware that Mr. Palmer lost a load of sand on the same 8 condition in that area.
9 day as Dan Koski in 20147 9 Q. And what did you do, if anything, to explore that
o A Yes, L had heard that. 1o theory?
1 Q. How did you become aware that that had occurred? 1 A I'munable. [ don't have enough technical equipment
12 A [ believe that Scott Palmer had called me about that 12 to even attempt such exploration.
13 incident. 13 Q. Have you discussed that theory with Scott Palmer?
14 Q. What did he say to you when he called you? 14 A Yes, | have.
15 A That he had dropped a load of sand on the highway at 15 Q. What have you two discussed?
16 approximately the same area that Dan had. 16 A We discussed the potential of a static charge,
17 Q. Did Scott indicate how the dump had occurred? 17 atmospheric that could be engaging the magnet on the valve in
18 A To me at that time with that phone call? 18 that area potentially. | believe there are some high tension
19 Q. Yes. 9 lines out there. | believe there is some cell towers or perhaps
20 A No. 20 microwave towers. Any of those potentially, in my opinion,
21 Q. Did he indicate to you at any time how that dropped 21 could have an effect on those trailers.
22 load had occurred? 22 Q. An effect on what part of the trailer?
23 A He is unaware of how 1t occurred as much as | am 23 A On the Versa valve's coil, the magnetic coil that
24 Q. Did you conduct any investigation to try to determine 24 actually activates clectrically the gate.
25 how that dump occurred? 25 Q. Did you run any tests to try to determine if that
Page 67 Page 69
i A 1don't believe we went as in depth as at that time we theory is accurate at all?
2 were installing the mechanical lockouts. 2 A TI'munable to. [don't have the equipnent.
3 Q. So did you conduct any inspection at all of the wiring 3 Q. Okay.
4 on the trailer that Scott was pulling that opened? 4 Are there any other theories that you have discussed
5 A [ don't recall making that inspection. Doesn't mean 5 with anyone at MDB regarding why these incidents occurred other
€ that [ didn't, 6 than what you just described, the atmospheric condition in that

22
23
24
2%

Q Do you recall any investigation that you conducted of
the trailer that Scott was pulling on July 7th, 2014?

A [ do not recall doing so.

Q. Do you recall whether or not you reached any
conclusions regarding the cause of Mr. Palmer’s trailer opening
on July 7th, 20147

A 1 have made no conclusions as to why either of those
or any of those incidents have occurred.

Q. Do you know if anyone at MDB has made any conclusions
regarding why the July 7th, 2014 incident involving Mr. Palmer's
truck occurred?

A You said does anyone -~

Q. Yes, have you heard from anybody at MDB any
conclusions regarding why the incident on July 7th, 2014
occurred?

A No.

Q. Did you conduct any investigation as to why
Mr. Palmer's trailer and Mr. Koski's trailer may have opened on
the same day, is that a theory that you -- did you explore that

area?
A No other pertinent or no other prevalent theories
Q. Did you discuss with Scott whether or not he may have
done anything on his own to cause this incident?
A No.
MS. WOELFEL: I'm going to walk through a bunch of
documents, okay. | will mark this as Exhibit 2.
(Exhibit 2 was marked.)
BY MS. WOELFEL:
Q. Exhibit 2 is a series of four pages that are work
orders Bates labeled MDBMAINT, maintenance 000309, 312, 315 and
32L
Have you seen these documents before?
A I have not seen this particular document.
Q. We're looking at the first document that is entitled
work order and it's dated -- actually there is a date that says
December 1st, 2013 and then there is a date completed that says
November 30th, 2013. Do you see that?
A Yes.
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Page 70

Q. And at the bottom it says performed by Scott and Pat.
Do you see that?

A That is correct.

Q. And 1 presume that you are the Pat that this refers
t0?

Page 72

to become loose, therefore we installed 7-way boxes, junction
boxes to neaten that up is what [ believe we did here, along

with some more new cable, which would be wires inside wrapped
together, probably the ABS green wire with seven independent
wires inside this cable and bringing a 4-way cable to Jooks like

6 A That s correct. another junction box.
7 Q. And who is Scott that is named here? 7 Q. What did you do with any of the wires that you were
8 A That would be Scott Paimer. 8 replacing or that weren't going to be used, did you remove them
2 Q. Did you write out this work order or did somebody 9 from the trailer or did you leave them there?
10 else? 10 A Typically we remove these. It would be my estimation
11 A I believe Scott Palmer made this work order. 1 that we did. Again it's been a while.
12 Q. Now, if you look on the line that says additional, can 12 Q. And what did you do with the removed wires, would you
13 you read what is written there? 13 throw those away?
4 MR. BROWN: Objection, the document speaks for itself. 14 A Yes
15 Go ahead. 18 Q. If you had noted or seen any problems with the wires
16 BY MS. WOELFEL: 16 that y ou removed would you note that somewhere?
17 Q. Are you able to read what is written there? 1 A If there had been an issue, yes, we would have,
18 A [ believe itreads - the first word is not extremely 1€ Q. Where would you have noted that?
19 clear to me, but I believe it says rewired trailer to meet MDB 19 A We wouid put it down here on the notes.
20 standards, replace lights with LEDs. 20 Q. Okay.
21 Q. Okay. 21 Moving to the next page, MDB maintenance 000312, This
22 Do you know what this refers to when it says rewire 22 indicates that there is work on February 20th, 2014 performed by
23 trailer to meet MDB standards? 23 Pat, it looks like. Is this your handwriting?
24 A What ] believe he is referring to is we typically 24 A. Pardon?
25 don't rush through our wiring job. We install junction boxes 25 Q. Is this your handwriting on this document?
Page 71 Page 73
L when necessary in a clean, safe location 1o keep it from being A It appears to be, ves.
2 damaged or filled with water or such. We take more time in our ? No, that would be -- Yes, that is my handwriting on
wiring terminals and such and 10 insulate them than the industry 3 most of it.
4 standard. 4 Q. Okay.
s Q. Okay. 5 [ want to go to the next page, MDB maintenance 000315.
€ Is there a way in which you wire a trailer that is € This is a work order dated April 16th, 2014 and it indicates
7 considered, quote unquote, MDB standards? 7 that the work is performed by Pat and Scott. Is this your
8 A Just by the neatness in which we do the wiring 8 handwriting on this document?
9 Q. If you acquire a new trailer, if MDB acquires a new 9 A No.
0 trailer do you rewire it to meet MDB standards? 1 Q. Do you know whose handwriting it is?
1 A Typically, no, unless the wiring is indicated that it 1 A It's my opinion it would be Scott Palmer’s.
12 needs to be done. 1z Q. And this indicates that on April 16, 2014 there was a
13 Q. Do you know if what you were doing with 677 - 13 Versa valve handle loose and air spring action on lever not
14 Actually scratch that. 14 working correctly.
15 Can you tell me based on this work order what it was 15 Do you recall performing the work indicated by way of
16 that you did to trailer 6777 on or around November 30th, 2013? 16 this work order?
17 A Again | can't read his writing very well, but 1 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation.
18 believe what we're indicating is that we ran new cable from the 18 THE WITNESS: 1 did not perform the work on this
19 tractor to the first — or to the trailer eliminating or 19 valve.
20 cleaning up the wiring on the 7-way and the 4-way. 20 BY MS. WOELFEL:
21 Q. What do you mean cleaning up the wiring from the 7-way 21 Q. Okay
22 and 4-way, what specifically were you doing? 22 Do you know why it says under performed by it says Pat
23 A Again this is quite a while back, but | believe that 23 and Scott, do you know why your name is listed there?
24 we had wiring at the 7-way - the original 7-way that was messy, 24 A Potentially, again it's been a while, that 1 may have
25 to say the least, wires stacked upon wires, potential for them 25 removed the valve for Scott
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Page 74 Page 76

1 Q. Why would you have removed the valve for Scott? or not, Pat?

2 A He may have asked me to remove it or he may have been 2 A It appears to be my handwriting,

3 in the process. 3 Q. Okay.

4 Q. Do you have any independent recollection of working on 4 It indicates that the work performed pursuant to this

5 this project in April of 2014? 5 work order was performed by you, correct?

s A Nothing specific. € A Correct.

7 Q. Going to the next page, it's a work order dated 7 Q. So it says troubleshoot no power at gate dump 4-way

8 December 1, 2014. Can you tell me if this is your handwriting 8 plug; is that correct?

9 or not? 9 A That is correct.
10 A That's probably my handwriting. 10 Q. What does that mean?
1 Q. Okay. 1 A That means at the plug, the 4-way plug for the trailer
12 And is that your name at the bottom that says iz dumps there was no power. In other words, the gates were not
13 performed by Pat? 13 opening because no power was being provided to them when
14 A Yes. 1 commanded by the driver.
15 Q. Okay. 15 Q. So if the driver hit the switch from inside the cab
16 Now, this says T/S gates not closing with switch. 16 the betly dumpers would not open, is that correct?
17 What does T/S gates not closing with switch mean? 1 A That is correct.
8 A That is my shorthand for troubleshoot and then gates 18 Q. What did you determine was the problem that caused
19 not working or not closing with switch meaning in the cab of the 19 that?
20 tractor the third switch activates to open it and they ask for 20 A ltappears here that I found that the wiring for the
21 it to be closed by turning the switch ofT, the gate would not 21 switches, the positive wire to the switches was on an
22 close. 22 inappropriate circuit inside the cab, was wired to a light
23 Q. Okay. 23 circuit.
24 A By removing the power from it. 24 Q. How would that have occurred that it would be wired to
25 Q. Okay. 25 an inappropriate circuit inside the cab?

Page 75 Page 77

! And so what did you do in response to that issue? 1 A This is a personal opinion that it's inappropriate. 1

2 A In this response from what I found the accumulator 2 wouldn't have wired it to that circuit, so meaning [ would have

3 apparently was not functioning properly on the Versa valve, 3 taken it to a different circuit, which 1 did in this particular

4 therefore | replaced the Versa valve. 4 instance.

5 Q. How did you determine that the accumulator was not > Q. Okay.

€ working on the Versa valve? 6 So you rewired the circuit so that it was -- describe

7 A I couldn'ttell you specifically. I'm pretty sure 7 to me how you rewired it?

8 that I probably checked to see if there was air on the other 8 A This particular switch at the time when [ found it

9 side of this accumulator by functioning the valve, the handle, 9 ran the wire from the light circuit, the lamp circuitto an
10 and at that point in time it was as far as I can go with it with 10 accessory circuit that was made to run accessories inside the
1 my knowledge of the Versa vaive, therefore 1 replaced the valve n cab, which in my opinion these switches were accessones, not
12 and the function was proper. 12 part of the lighting and brakes or anything else, heaters or l
13 Q. Did you replace it with the exact same type of Versa 13 anything else for that matter, more to perhaps a more dedicated
u valve? 14 circuit.
15 A Yes. 1s Q. And after you madc that change everything worked?
i6 MS. WOELFEL: This will be Exhibit 3. 16 A 1t appears so, yes.
17 (Exhibit 3 was marked.) 17 Q. Okay.
18 BY MS. WOELFEL: 18 Moving on to the next work order, which is Bates
1% Q. Exhibit 3 is another stack of work orders with various 19 labeled MDB 155, this looks like it's work performed by Brandon
20 Bates numbers and they all relate to equipment number 5694, 20 Jones. Who is that?
21 which | will represent to you is Daniel Koski's truck, the truck 21 A Brandon Jones was a young man hired to help lubricate
22 that he drove to pull the three belly dump trailers. 22 and service the vehicles.
23 If we look at the first work order, which is dated -- 23 Q. Did he work with you?
24 first of all, it's Bates labelled MDB 031 and it is dated 24 A. He worked with me on occasion, yes.
25 April 13th, 2013. Can you tell me if this is your handwriting 25 Q. Did you train him?
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Page 78

A Toa certain extent, yes.

Page 80

Did you believe that there could have been a wiring

2 Q. So when you say his jobs were to lubricate and inspect 2 issue there that would have contributed to this unauthorized
3 the vehicles, what is involved with the inspection that Brandon 3 dump?
4 would perform? 4 A ldidn't truly believe so, but there is always a
5 A Well, he was instructed to keep his eyes open for 5 potential.
6 anything that looked odd to him, cracks or breaks, something 6 Q. Okay.
7 that is just not right and to bring it to either myself or ? And is that the reason why you did the rewiring in the
8 Tracy'’s attention at this time. 8 cab?
9 Q. So based on what is written here where it says grease 9 A Yes, 1 wanted to isolate those circuits as best
10 and inspect, do you know precisely or can you tell what Brandon 10 could completely from the tractor and that's why we went to the
11 inspected on equipment number 5694 and trailers 6773, 6774 and 1 batteries directly instead of pulling any power or ground from
12 67757 12 the chassis.
13 A Tcould not tell you precisely what he inspected. 13 Q. Okay.
1 Q. But if he found any problems you would have expected 14 It also says you installed a master switch?
15 him to bring that to cither your or Tracy Shanc’s attention? 15 A. That s correct.
16 A. That is correct. 16 Q. Was there a master switch in there before?
7 Q. Do you know if anything was brought to your attention 17 A No, there was not.
18 on or around May 19th, 20137 18 Q. Why did you install 3 master switch?
19 A 1do not believe so. 19 A It's one more step, one more protective circuit.
20 Q. Next page is MDB 073. This is work that looks like - 20 Q. Did you believe that there was a possibility that
21 the work order is dated July 20th —~ can you read that? 21 driver error could have contributed to the unauthorized dump in
22 A. Pardon? 22 July of 2013?
23 Q. Canyou read the date on this work order? 23 A That possibility never truly entered my mind.
24 A ltlooks like July 26, 2013, 24 Q. Did you install master switches in every other truck?
25 Q. Is that your handwriting? 25 A No, we did not.
Page 79 Page 81
1 A That is my handwriting. 1 Q. Just the one that Mr. Koski was driving?
2 Q. And it looks like the work order is completed by Pat. 2 A. Correct.
3 That is you; correct? 3 Q. On to the next page, MDB 078. This work order is
4 A Correct. 4 dated August 17, 2013 and it looks like it says performed by
5 Q. And the work is performed also by you; is that s Pat, and that is you; correct?
6 comect? s A. That is correct.
? A Correct. 7 Q. Is this your handwriting?
8 Q. And here it looks like you are rewiring gate switches; 8 A It appears to be, yes.
9 is that right? 9 Q. 1can't read what is written where it says additional.
10 A Yes. 10 Can you read that for me, please?
1 Q. This is inside the cab of the truck? 11 A. lwishicould. Icannotwith this copy. It seems a
12 A That is correct. 12 little blurry.
13 Q. Can you tell me why you were rewiring gate switches on 13 Q. Okay.
R July 26, 20137 ] A But it seems something about the trailer lights,
15 A 1believe at that time we had the uncommanded opening 15 troubleshooting the trailer lights, perhaps pulsing may be the
16 of the gate and this was part of the repairs to help isolate 16 word, may not, and then in my poor parentheses is possible
17 even more so the system. 17 ground.
18 Q. Okay. 18 Q. What does that mean?
1 Had you found any problems with the gate switches 1 A. Possible ground would be a possible grounding issue.
20 inside the cab prior to making the decision to rewire? 20 The circuit is not being completed well as perhaps a corroded
21 A There was one issue where we didn't have power flowing 21 circuit that doesn't aliow the electricity to retum to the
22 through when 1 rewired to the accessory circuit. 22 battery and, therefore, let's just take a light, for example, it
23 Q. That occurred on or about April 13th, 2013; correct? 23 cannot illuminate as it's supposed 1o, but it may illuminate
24 A Yeah 24 dimly because it's still getting some circuit, but not all the
25 Q. Okay. 25 circuit required to operate properly.
.
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Page 82

Page 84

i Q. Okay. 1 Next page is MDB maintenance 000089 and it says the
2 So what did you do to correct that issue? 2 work is performed by Pat and the date is February 6th, 2014. Is
3 A It looks to me it says | found an issue perhaps in the 3 this your handwriting, Pat?
4 7-way plug and socket on the tractor. 4 A It does appear to be my handwriting, yes.
5 Q. And replaced those parts? B Q. Okay.
6 A Yes, | replaced the plug and a socket on this tractor, & And here it says that you replaced cab power relay?
7 which the ground wire passes through. 7 A Correct.
8 Q. Okay. 8 Q. What does that mean, what does that involve?
9 When you replace a part do you throw away the part you 9 A In the cab for the main power coming to the cab
10 have taken off the truck or do you keep it? 10 supplies 12-voit DC is a relay behind the dash. When that relay
1 A Typically we dispose of it. 11 fails we lose all power in the dash. So that entails us
12 Q. M you were to keep it would that be noted somewhere? 12 removing a portion of the dash to get to this relay and
13 A No. 13 replacing it, physically replacing the electrical component.
14 Q. I'wantto goto MDB 095, so go two pages ahead. 1 Q. Okay.
15 A 857 15 Next page is MDB 109 and that is a work order for 5694
16 Q. 95, right there. 16 dated March 21, 2014, and in this it Jooks like you repaired the
v This is a work order dated October 20th, 2013, and is 17 center gate toggle switch cover?
18 this your handwriting? s A Correct.
19 A No. 19 Q. And that is one of the switches that operates the
20 Q. That is Scott's name on the bottom; correct? 20 belly dumnper; correct?
21 A That is correct 21 A Thatis correct. That is one of the covers for the
22 Q. If you had performed work with Scott in any capacity, 22 switch.
23 even just a little bit, would your name be written on the bottom 23 Q. One of the red covers that you would flip up before
24 of the work order? 24 you could move the toggle switch; is that correct?
25 A Typically, yes. 25 A That is correct.
Page 83 Page 85
B Q. Okay. 1 Q. Do all cabs have toggle covers over the switches?
2 Do you have any recollection of assisting him in 2 A Pardon?
3 replacing a master switch on 56947 3 Could you define which toggle switches you're
4 A Ido not recall assisting him. 4 referring to?
5 Q. Okay, 5 Q. The toggle switches that activate the belly dumpers,
6 Let's move on to MDB 101, Is that your handwriting on € does every truck in MDB's line have covers over those toggle
7 this document? 7 switches?
8 A Pardon? 8 A Correct, they do.
9 Q. Is this your handwriting? 9 Q. The next page is MDB maintenance 000103, It's
10 A That is correct. 10 June 25th, 2014, and at the bottom 1t says work performed by
1 Q. What does PM-1 mean? 1 Pat. Can you tell me if this is your handwriting?
12 A That is preventative maintenance first level 12 A Thats correct.
13 Q. What does preventative maintenance first level 13 Q. 1 believe it says troubleshoot, I don't know,
14 involve? 14 something turn signals and 4-way flashers. Can you read that
15 A It involves changing the engine oil and filter, 15 for me?
16 lubricating all the lubricatable components and inspection, 16 A lcertainly can. It reads troubleshoot TS in-op tumn
17 visual typically, and topping off of fluids, such as the 17 signals and 4-way flashers.
18 windshield washers, checking to make sure the wipers are in good i8 Q. Okay.
o condition and all the lights are functional. s And it says you found low voltage at the switch?
20 Q. And ifany issues were noted from the visual 20 A That is correct.
21 inspection would that be indicated on this work order? 21 Q. What does that mean, at the flasher switch you found
22 A The smaller stuff, yes. 22 low voltage?
23 Q. What if there was larger stuff? 23 A Correct.
24 A Bigger stuff would be opened on a separate work order, 24 Q. What could that have been caused by?
2% Q 25 A At this point it appears by my notes the fuse in the

All right.
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Page 86 Page 88
1 fuse panel was not allowing full voltage through the fuse. 1 Q. Are you inspecting the wiring that is not visible?
2 Q. Okay. 2 A. No.
3 A. Extremely rare, but it occurs, 3 Q. The next work order is dated July 7, 2014, which we
4 Q. Do you know what could have caused that? 4 know is the date that there was an unauthorized dump by
5 A At this point [ assumed that it was perhaps the fuse, s Mr. Koski, correct, and this says gate opened on highway,
6 the filament in the fuse was not making good contact. 6 trailer number 6775, install positive gate valve lock. Were you
7 MS. WOELFEL: Okay. 7 involved in the installing of positive gate valve locks?
8 We're going to move to another set of exhibits. Let's do 8 A. Let me find that.
9 the next set really fast. 9 MS. SHREVE: 1 think yours is in a different order.
10 (Exhibit 4 was marked.) 10 MS. WOELFEL: MDB 0013.
11 BY MS. WOELFEL: 11 Let's go ahead and break right there so I can put that in
12 Q. This is a set of exhibits related to equipment number 12 the correct order and we only have a few minutes before the
13 6773, which is the first trailer in Mr. Koski's three trailer 13 call. Iapologize for that.
14 lineup, the one attached to the truck. 14 (A recess was taken.)
15 Now, going to the very first work order it says work 15 BY MS. WOELFEL:
16 is performed by Scott, but it notes that there is pulled out 16 Q. So we are back on the record, and when we left off we
17 unused wire from, I don't know, can you read his writing better 17 were on Exhibit 4 and | had given you a jumble of paper that was
18 than me under the note section? 18 not in the same order as mine and we have comected that.
19 A 1 have difficulty reading my own writing, but I can't 19 We were looking at MDB 013, which is a work order
20 really speculate on what that word is. 20 dated 7/7/14. Do you see that?
21 Q. Okay. 21 A ldoseeit.
22 A The last word appears to be discarded. 22 Q. And that is for equipment number 6773, 6774 and 6775,
23 Q. Okay. 23 Do you see that?
24 Do you have any knowledge regarding what this work 24 A That is correct.
25 order was about or involved? 25 Q. And this is a work order that was on the same day as
Page 87 Page 89
1 A No. 1 the unauthorized release; correct?
2 Q. The third page, MDB 170, states inspect FAl and that 2 A That appears to be correct.
3 is performed by Tracy. What is an FAI? 3 Q. And it notes that there was a gate opening on the
4 Oops, let me see that. You have my super secret 4 highway with trailer 6775 and that there was an installation of
5 highlights, which you probably can't read that handwriting s positive gate valve locks. Were you involved in installing the
€ either. 6 positive gate valve locks on 6773, 6774 and 67757
7 What is an FAI? 7 A Ibelieve I assisted in the installation of these
A. Not knowing Tracy's shorthand I'm going to state that 8 locks.
8 potentially it's a federal annual inspection. 9 Q. Did you assist in the fabrication of those positive
10 Q. Did you ever conduct federal annual inspections on 10 locks?
11 these trailers? i1 A [ believe that Scott Palmer made that fabrication of
12 A Thave. Ibelieve | have done a federal on these 12 those locks.
13 trailers. 13 Q. Did he discuss with you at all the design that he was
14 Q. Who typically does the federal annual inspections on 14 putting together before he did it?
15 these tratlers? 15 A No.
16 A Typically it could be myself, Scott Palmer or Tracy 16 Q. Go to the next page, that is a work order dated
17 Shane at this time. Tracy Shane was the one typically doing the 17 August Sth, 2014 for 6773. Is that your handwriting?
18 federal annual inspections at this time. 18 A That is my handwriting, correct.
19 Q. What does a federal annual inspection involve? 19 Q. And it says you replaced a 4-way socket. Do you know
20 A ltinvolves the visual physical inspection of the 20 why you had to replace that 4-way socket based on what is on
21 condition of the trailer in regards to brakes, tires, 21 this document?
22 securement, chains, if required, lighting, bumpers, if required, 22 A Its an assumption that the socket -- the flap that
23 handholds and such. It's a somewhat general inspection of the 23 holds the plug in place may have been broken or there may have
24 overali condition, whether it's a tractor, a trailer. If these 24 been corrosion on the socket on the plugs or it could have had a
23 components exist on it then they are to be inspected 25 broken pin. Some damage, it's an assumption at this point.
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Page 90 Page 92
i Q. Because you can't tell what the problem was based on 1 Q. Okay.
2 this work order? 2 A It's a fairly major event.
3 A No. 3 MS. WOELFEL: Mark this as Exhibit 6.
4 Q. And the next page, MDB maintenance 000165, is a work 4 (Exhibit 6 was marked.)
5 order dated 9/16/2014. Is that your handwriting on this page? 5 BY MS. WOELFEL:
6 A Yes,itis. 6 Q. Handing you what has been marked as Exhibit 6, it's a
7 Q. And what does this work order describe? 7 series of documents related to equipment number 6775,
8 A Describing troubleshooting an air leak on the first 8 The first page is Bates labeled MDB 239 and it's a
9 and second gate cylinders. 9 work order dated July 18, 2013 with the date completed of
10 Q. What would an air leak on a gate cylinder do, would 10 July 19th, 2013. Is this your handwriting?
i that prevent the belly dumper from opening and closing? i1 A ldo not believe it is.
12 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation. 12 Q. It says the work order is by and then it says Pat. Is
13 THE WITNESS: It does not prevent them from aperating. 13 there anybody else at MDB Trucking whose name is Pat?
14 It's merely a leak in the air system. In this case it appears 14 A No, there is not.
15 to be on a QR valve and perhaps a cylinder and those air leaks 15 Q. It says the work is performed by Pat. Do you see that
16 needed to be addressed and repaired for loss of air. 16 at the bottom?
17 BY MS. WOELFEL: 17 A ldo.
18 Q. And you made those repairs? 18 Q. Whose handwriting do you think this is?
15 A Itappears [ had, yes. 19 A Pardon?
20 MS. WOELFEL: All right. 20 Q. Do you know whose handwriting this is?
2 We will move on to a different exhibit. 2 A ldon't know for certain, but it may be my wife's.
22 (Exhibit 5 was marked.) 22 It's much too legible for mine.
23 BY MS. WOELFEL: 23 Q. Would your wife assist you in writing up work orders?
2 Q. On the first page, MDB 196, that is dated - [ believe 24 A On rare occasions.
25 it's dated July 31st, 2013 and it says date completed 8/2/2013 25 Q. And does she also work at MDB Trucking?
Page 91 Page 93
i and it says work performed by Pat for equipment 6774. Is that B A She does not.
2 your handwriting, Pat? 2 Q. So would you fill out these work orders at home afler
3 A It does appear to be. 3 work?
4 Q. And can you tell me what is indicated in this work 4 A More than likely she was out visiting and with my
5 order? 4 hands being all greasy and whatnot it's more convenient to have
6 A In this particular work order it indicates that I ran 6 her - to be able to dictate to her what I did.
7 new wires in this trailer for the dump circuit. 7 Q. So you would be dictating to her and she would be
8 Q. Was this in response to the July 2013 unauthorized 8 filling out this work order?
9 dump? A Correct.
0 A 1do beligve so. 1o Q. Can you describe for me what you were doing with
1 Q. And it says you rewired dump valve circuit. Can you n respect to this work order?
12 explain precisely how you rewired the dump valve circuit? 12 A On the trailers there is two inline apparatus that
13 A Rather than using the circuit that existed with the 13 deal with air prior to the Versa valve, One of them is the
is 7-way wires it appears with the parts used that | ran 14 water separator and filter and the other is the oiler, which
15 independent wires from the 4-way socket back to the coil on the 15 automatically provides oil to the Versa valve and our cylinders
16 Versa valve. 16 to keep them functioning properly.
17 Q. How can you tell from this work order that you left 17 In this where they are put together these have used a
18 the existing wires in the trailer or the previously existing 18 fairly flimsy O ring system and a taper lock that holds them
is wires in the trailer? 19 together. Over time the O rings become weak and the air
20 A Atthis point | didn't state that [ had removed them, 20 pressure that they are supposed to seal is able to overcome them
2 therefore that's the only reason I can say we did not. 2 and leak to the outside so we have an air loss at that point.
22 Q. Okay. 22 With these particular valves 1 found the way they are
23 If you had removed them would you have written removed 23 done are inadequate for an over-the-road trailer. So what I did
24 24 in this instance, rather than duplicate the O rings and the
25 25 locking mechanism to hold them together, these particular valves

A Typically I would have, yes.

i

All-American Court Reporters (702) 240-4393
www.aacrlv.com

AA000332




Patrick Bigby

April 10, 2017

25 (Pages 94 to 97)

PER ST B S R VR

Page 94

also have pipe threads that could be utilized and | did utilize
pipe threads and unions, which made a solid junction for the air
and climinates the O rings from leaking in the future.

Q. What would be the result of the air leak?

A Pardon?

Q. What is the result of the air leaking at the gate
control valve?

A At this one, this particular one besides basically
what we were dealing with was just a loss of air. It's still
part of the system. The air compressor from our tractor is
working harder to try to make up for this air. It still has
plenty of air to operate properly the cylinders on the gates and
maintain pressure in the tank, it's just unacceptabie to have
that air leak.

Q. Okay.

And this was shortly before the unauthorized dump in
July of 2013 involving this trailer; correct?

A It appears so, yes.

Q. When that unauthorized dump in July 2013 took place
did you check to see if what is described on this work order
played any part in that unauthorized release?

A 1did not make any specific test to this, perhaps
checked for feaks, but 1 don't believe there would have been any
found.

Q. The next page is Bates labeled MDB 015 and it's a work

w o~

PR ST NN

Page 96

Q. Okay.

And did you place the order for a new Versa valve?

A Ibelieve so. I wentand picked it up at our vendor.

Q. Were you the person that made the choice on which
Versa valve to purchase?

MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation.
THE WITNESS: You could say that, I suppose.
BY MS. WOELFEL:

Q. Did you have any discussions with anybody else at MDB
about what type of Versa valve to purchase in order to replace
the one that you had removed?

A No.

Q. So if you placed the order then it would have been
your decision on which Versa valve to order?

A Yes.

Q. Did you look at any other types of Versa valve when
you were making a decision on what to purchase?

A No.

MS. WOELFEL: Keep that exhibit in front of you. 1
want to show you what we will mark as Exhibit 7.
(Exhibit 7 was marked.)
BY MS. WOELFEL:

Q. Handing you an invoice that is dated July 31st, 203,
and it's an invoice ordering a side port Versa valve. Do you
see that?
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order dated August Ist, 2013. 1t says by Pat and performed by
Pat. Is that your handwriting?

A It does appear to be, yes.

Q. Can you describe for me what you were doing in this
work order?

A Itsays that we were investigating unintentional gate
opening. At this point it appears to me that I have begun to
replace and isolate the circuit for the Versa valve's function
in this particular work order, replaced the Versa valve,
isolated the dump valve circuit. 1 have difficulty reading my
own handwriting. Install the Versa valve and rewire dump valve
circuit from valve to truck isolating dump circuit and 1 removed
a coil case ground from the circuit.

Q. So you rewired the dump valve circuit in the same
manner that you rewired 6774 that we talked about?

A Correct.

Q. Then it says you replaced the Versa valve, Did you
take off the Versa valve, did you remove the Versa valve from
67757

A T'm pretty sure 1 would have, yes.

Q. What did you do with the Versa valve that you removed?

A My best recollection is we disposed of it.

Q. Did you run any tests on it after you removed it from
the trailer?

A Tdo not believe so.

W e
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Page 97

A Ido.

Q. And it's with Engs Motor Truck Company. Is that with
whom you placed your order for a new Versa valve?

A Thatis correct.

Q. You said you went and picked it up at Engs when it was
ready?

A Correct.

Q. How do you pronounce this company?

A. Ibelieve it's Engs.

Q. So going back to work order MDB 0135, do you know if
Engs had the Versa valve in stock and you just went and picked
it up or did you have to place an order and have it delivered?

A Iflrecall correctly it was in stock.

Q. Okay.

And you went and picked it up and then did you notice
when you opened the package for the Versa valve that there was
any written documentation inciuded with it?

A 1would have to say that there probably was.

Q. Didyou read it before you replaced the Versa valve?

A ldidnot.

Q. Did anyone assist you in installing the new Versa
valve?

A 1do not believe so.

Q. Okay.

After you installed the new Versa valve did you
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Page 98 Page 100
1 utilize the pinning system that -- scratch that. That didn't 1 Q. Canyou tell me what is going on in this work order?
2 happen for a year later; correct? 2 A Troubleshoot ABS light coming on.
3 A Pardon? 3 Q. What is an ABS light.
4 Q. You were not utilizing a pinning system with the Versa 4 A Antilock braking system indicator light.
s valve that you replaced in July of 2013, correct? 5 Q. Why was the ABS light coming on?
€ A Correct. 6 A The ABS light will illuminate any time that the ECU,
7 Q. You put the trailer back in service after you 7 the ABS clectronic control unit senses an issue withthe ABS
8 completed this work order; is that right? 8 system, whether it be a broken wire or no continuity to one of
9 A 1did not put it back into service, 9 the sensors or a bad sensor, a multitude of issues.
10 Q. Who makes the decision to put it back into service? 10 [t appears in this particular work order that I had
i1 A At that time it would have been Tracy Shane. 1 two wires that were damaged going to the front sensors and |
12 Q. Okay. 12 replaced them.
13 A Icould not give him reason not to. 13 Q. Okay.
14 Q. Sodid you recommend to Mr. Shane that he put 6775 1 Do you know how they were damaged?
15 back in service? 15 A 1don'trecall exactly, but probably some sort of
16 A Idid not make any recommendation. 16 abrasion.
17 Q. But you could not give him a reason to keep it out of 17 Q. When you are conducting that inspection trying to
16 service? 18 figure out what is causing the ABS light to come on are you
18 A Correct. 19 inspecting other wires at the same time to try to Jook for the
20 Q. Go to three pages back, MDB maintenance 240. t's a 20 source of the problem?
21 work order dated June 30th, 2014. 21 A Yes, you always do a visual inspection.
2z A June 30th, 20147 22 Q. Ifyou had seen any other problems with the wiring you
23 Q. That's correct. 23 would have noted it and corrected it?
2 A Okay. 24 A That is correct.
25 Q. For equipment number 6775, and at the bottom it says 25 Q. Soit's fair to say that on July 2, 2014 you didn't
Page 99 Page 101
i performed by Pat. Is that your handwriting? 1 see any other problems with the wiring?
2 A That is correct. 2 A 1didnot.
3 Q. Now this says reattached Versa valve. What does that 3 Q. So the next page is MDB maintenance 244 and that is
4 mean? 4 about five days later on July 7th, 2014 and that is the day that
s A At this moment just reading this | would have to 5 there was an unauthorized release; is that correct?
6 assume that a portion of the attaching apparatus, which in this 6 A Ibelieve so.
? case would be bolts, has come loose and that [ either 7 Q. Okay.
8 reinstalled and tightened the valve, or 1 should say retightened 8 And this is a work order, looks like prepared by Scott
8 the fasteners, or perhaps replaced with a different locking nut E and performed by Scott, and it says install lockout device for
10 or washer at that point in time. 10 Versa valve. Did you assist him with installing the lockout
11 Q. Okay. 11 device for the Versa valve on 6775, if you can recall?
12 With the Versa valve loose would that cause any safety 12 A Pardon?
13 issues? 13 Q. Did you assist him in installing the lockout device?
14 A In my opinion, po. 14 A 1don't believe so, but I may have.
15 Q. Why not? 15 Q. Okay.
16 A 1don't feel it could have -- [ don't recall it ever 1€ Go to the next page, MDB maintenance 246. It's a work
17 being completely free of its mount. At that point in time there 1? order dated 7/8/2014 and it says performed by Pat. Do you see
16 is no way, even with the way it's plumbed, which is air plumbing 18 that?
19 to the rear of it, there is no way that I could conceive it to 13 A ldo.
20 be able to fall and strike the handle and activate the valve. 20 Q. Is that your handwriting on this work order?
21 Q. Go to the next page. It's Bates labeled MDB 258. 21 A That is my handwriting.
22 It's a work order dated July 2, 2014 for equipment number 6775 22 Q. Now, this is the day after the unauthorized release;
23 and it says work performed by Pat. Is that your handwriting, 23 correct?
24 Pat? 24 A Ibelieve s0.
25 A That is my handwriting. 25 Q. And what is going on in this work order?
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Page 102
A This particular work order it appears that the ABS

Page 104

Q. Why would you need to do that?

2 light had iltuminated indicating another issue with ABS and this 2 A More than likely it had indicated it was no longer
3 circuitry, which was BU-1, was a fault. 1 traced the circuit to 3 functioning properly. Pressure protection valve protects the
4 an extension cable that either apparemly had a break in it or 4 tractor from loss of air from equipment used downstream.
5 somnething, was no longer communicating with the ECU and [ 5 MS. WOELFEL: All right.
€ replaced the cable and cleared the codes from the ECU. € You can put that exhibit away and mark this one next in
7 Q. Does this indicate to you that 6775 was being used on ? order.
8 July 8th to haul ioads? 8 (Exhibit 8 was marked.)
9 A Would you repeat the question, please? s BY MS. WOELFEL:
10 Q. Right. 10 Q. This is a series of work orders for equipment number
1 Based on the fact that you were performing this work 11 5693, which is Scott Palmer's -- the truck that Scott Palmer was
12 on this trailer 6775 on July 8th, 2014, does that suggest to you 12 driving when he had his inadvertent dump on July 7th, just to
13 that Dan, who signed the work order, had been using that trailer 13 give it context.
14 to haul loads on July 8th, 20147 14 On the first page of this, MDB maintenance 000277, it
15 A Not necessanily. It could be an old work order. 15 looks like the work was performed by you, Pat. [s that your
16 Q. So this would be an old work order? 16 handwriting on this document?
b A Not an old work order, but that day may have been 17 A It does appear to be, yes.
18 assigned to us. 18 Q. Tell me what is happening with this work order,
19 Q. Okay. 19 picase?
20 So when you prepare -- when a person prepares a work 20 A In this particular work order it's troubleshoot
21 order do they put the day that they prepare it on the work order 21 intermittent first trailer gate function.
22 or is there someplace eise that they would note -- 22 Q. What does that mean?
23 A Not necessarily. Sometimes it's the date that the 23 A That means it either wasn't functioning or wasn't
24 work is performed and completed or began and completed. As far 24 functioning pro perly.
25 as preparing the work order, me, the date I start to work on it 25 Q. Did you figure out why it wasn't functioning properly?
Page 103 Page 105
1 is the date that I have the information that it needs to be 1 A Itappears to me that there was a wire that wasn't
2 repaired and, therefore, that is why that date is on there. 2 secured properly in the plug, within the 4-way plug. 1t appears
3 Q. Okay. 3 that I replaced that 4-way plug. I may have found either a
4 At could have been brought to the someone's attention 4 broken screw or something along those lines that caused me to
5 the day before. 5 want to replace the plug.
¢ Q. Okay. € Q. When you replace a plug you normally discard the plug
7 Go to the next page. This is MDB maintenance 249 L that you have taken off of the unit?
8 It's a work order dated September 16th, 2014. It says performed 8 A Ido.
@ by Pat. Is that your handwriting, Pat? 9 Q. Go to the next page. It's March 23rd, 2015. It looks
10 A Yes. 10 like work was performed by you. Is that your handwriting?
11 Q. Can you tell me what is happening in this work order, n A That is my handwriting.
12 please? 12 Q. And can you tell me what is happening in this work
i3 A ltappears that there was an air leak at the first 13 order?
14 gate cylinder and at this point in time the QR valve, which is 14 A ltsays gate not working with switch. It appears when
15 called a quick release valve on each end of the cylinder was 15 1 checked it out they were working. The 4-way plug from the
16 leaking. At that point | removed it, cleaned the diaphragm, 16 tractor to the trailer ground had some corrosion so I replaced
17 which is one of the major functions of the QR valve, reinstalled 17 the 4-way plug and also noticed feedback at plug traced to a
18 it, and I'm centain if | said okay then 1 tesied it to make sure 18 light wire in the dash and unplugged the jumpers, recommended
1e that it was no longer leaking, 19 rewiring the switches.
20 Q. Okay. 20 MS. WOELFEL: Okay.
21 Go to the very last page of this exhibit, MDB 327. 21 I'm going to hand you another stack of documents.
22 It's a work order dated February 29, 2016 for 6775. It states 22 (Exhibit 9 was marked.)
23 that you are installing a pressure protection valve for gate air 23 BY MS. WOELFEL:
24 tank? 24 Q. This is all related to equipment number 6778, and 6778
25 A Comect 28 is the rear trailer of the three trailer set that Mr. Palmer was
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Page 106 Page 108
1 pulling when he had his inadvertent dump. 1 A Yes.
2 The first page is MDBMTSUP94. This work order is 2 Q. Without the pin he could?
3 dated July 17th, 2014. Whatis B and L? 3 A Yeah
4 A That is my term for brake and lube, which is 4 MS. WOELFEL: Let's take a quick break. I might be
s inspecting the brakes and lubricating the trailer. s done.
6 Q. Okay. € (A recess was taken.)
7 The next page -- let's actually go to the page after 7 MS. WOELFEL: 1am going to pass the witness at this
8 that, which is MDB maintenance 336. This is work from 8 time. So thank you for your cooperation and I believe Ms.
9 December 1st, 2014 performed looks like by you, Pat. [s that 9 Shreve is going to ask you some questions.
10 your handwriting? 10
1 A. Yes. EXAMINATION
12 Q. And this says you're reattaching the safety pin to the 12 BY MS. SHREVE:
13 Versa valve on this date. Why were you doing that? 13 Q. Mr. Bigby, my name is Paige Shreve and I represent
u A This particular pin is the pin that physically blocks 14 Versa Products Company and | have some questions for you.
15 the valve handle. 15 1 just wanted to verify prior to working at MDB you
16 Q. Is this the pin that Scott Palmer fabricated? 16 had never done any maintenance on belly dump trailers; is that
17 A The pin was not fabricated. It was purchased. The 17 correct?
18 pin is the blocking portion. The fabricated part was attached 18 A That is correct.
192 to the trailer. The pin has to be able to move independently, 19 Q. And prior to your employment at MDB you had never done
20 which we attached cables to it so if it were to slip out of the 20 any maintenance on Versa valves; is that correct?
21 operator's hands it won't fall and be lost or discarded. 21 A Pardon?
22 In this particular instance what 1 did was, in fact, 22 Q. Prior to working at MDB you had not done any
23 drill 2 hole in the mount and attached a cable to the pin so 23 maintenance on Versa valves; is that correct?
24 that it could not be lost, It may have been lost. This 2 A That is correct.
25 particular incident it may have fallen out or Scott was 25 Q. After the -- Strike that.
Page 107 Page 109
1 concemed that it may get lost. 1 Do you know when the July 2013 incident occurred where
2 Q. So the safety pin is the pin that prevents the Versa 2 there was an inadvertent belly dump on the highway in
3 valve from opening? 3 Mr. Koski's truck?
4 A It's the one you physically push into the blocking 4 A What is the question?
5 mechanism. s Q. Do you know what the specific date was in July of 2013
6 Q. And that pin needed -- basically what you were doing 6 of the first intentional belly dump?
7 here was creating a way that it could not fall out, is that what 7 MR. BROWN: Object, misstates. Do you mean
8 you're saying? 8 unintentional?
9 A No, that it could not be lost. 9 MS. SHREVE: Did I say intentional?
10 Q. That it could not be lost. So it could still fall 10 MR. BROWN: That's what ] heard.
1n out, but it would be attached to the trailer? 1 BY MS. SHREVE;
12 A It could be removed and dropped. 12 Q. The unintentional belly dump.
13 Q. Okay. 13 A 1 do not recail the date.
14 Could it come out on its own? L] Q. Do you recall if the trailer, the truck and trailer
15 A In my opinion? 15 was in service the day after the July 2013 unintentional belly
16 Q. Yes. 16 dump?
17 A No. 17 A 1don't recall specifically, but 1 do not believe so.
18 Q. Then why would you need to attach something that would 18 Q. Okay.
1 prevent it from coming out or getting lost if n couldn’t come 19 I'm just trying to narrow down the date with the
20 out on its own? 20 service dates.
21 A As the operator is dumping that has to be removed. If 21 After the July 2013 incident do you recall anyone
22 he is over the grizzly and it slips out of his hand that pin is 22 taking any pictures of the truck or trailer?
23 no longer available to him. 23 A Of the which?
24 Q. And if he lost the pin in the grizzly would he be able 24 Q. The truck and trailer after the July 2013?
25 25 A Any photographs?

to operate that belly dump trailer?
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Page 110 Page 112
1 Q. Yes. L it would be Tracy Shane or Scott Palmer and then they would in
2 A 1do not recall seeing anyone take photographs. 2 tum notify me. However, if I were in the yard they could
3 Q. How about the July 2014 incident on Mr. Koski's truck 3 notify me of an issue.
4 or trailer? 4 Q. Are there any records that are kept that the driver
s A. On that date | do not recall any photographs being 5 hands you if they are in need of something, of any maintenance
€ taken, 6 done to it if they find something wrong during their inspection?
7 Q. Do you recall any within that week of the incident 7 A I'mnot understanding your question,
8 being taken? 8 Q. Is there any paperwork that is filled out by the
9 A Idonot. 8 driver that they give to you if they notice something is wrong
10 Q. Okay. 10 during their inspection?
1 After the July 2013 incident did you notify anybody 1L A There is what is considered a DVIR, which is a driver
12 from Versa valve regarding the unintentional dump? 12 vehicle inspection report.
13 A Tpersonally did not, 13 MS. SHREVE: So I will do this as the next exhibit as
14 Q. How about after the July 2014 incident did you notify 4 10.
15 anyone from Versa valve regarding the unintentional dump? 5 (Exhibit 10 was marked.)
16 A. Noe. 16 BY MS. SHREVE:
17 Q. Earlier you testified that you did an inspection of 17 Q. Is this what you were referring to as an DVIR?
18 the truck and trailer, Mr, Koski's, after the July 2014 18 A That's correct,
19 incident; is that cormrect? 19 Q. And are these DVIRs handed to you or are they given to
20 A That's correct. 20 Tracy and Scott?
21 Q. And if I recall correctly you indicated that you did 21 A They are typically turned into Scott.
22 tests trying to create the short and also checked the air 22z Q. Does he ever pass them along to you?
23 pressure; is that correct, after the July 2014 incident? 23 A He passes along the information necessary to make
2¢ A On the July 20147 24 repairs.
25 Q. Yes. 25 Q. But not the actual document?
Page 111 Page 113
L A [Ibelieve we tried to do some investigation into it, 1 A No.
2 but not as much as we did in the 2013. 2 Q. What type of records do you usually keep when you're
3 Q. The 2013 you did more investigation? 3 doing any maintenance to any of the trucks or trailers?
4 A Yes. 4 A The records that [ maintain?
5 Q. So it's the '13 that you did trying to create the 5 Q. Yes.
6 short and check the air pressure and stuff like that; is that 6 A Just the work order.
7 correct? 7 Q. Do you keep any handwritten notes at all when you're
8 A That is correct. 8 doing any maintenance?
9 Q. Did you ever drive the truck around to try to get the 9 A ldonot.
10 inadvertent dumping to occur or was it all just stationary? i Q. When you installed the Versa valve in July 2013 was
11 A Inthe yard I did. 1 did not take it on the highway. 11 that your first time installing a Versa valve?
12 Q. What about after the July 2014 incident, did you do 12 A 1 would say yes.
13 any driving with it to try to create an inadvertent dump? 13 Q. How did you know how to install it on the trailer?
14 A [did not. 14 A. By watching and duplicating the installation that was
15 Q. Was it your position as in charge of maintenance for 15 already in place and the installation on other trailers. It'sa
16 MDB to ensure that the dnvers properly inspect their vehicles 16 fairly straightforward appearing and simple installation in my
17 each morning? 17 opinion.
18 A No. 18 Q. So you looked at the one that was already installed
19 Q. Who is responsible for that? 19 and then looked at other trailers to sec how it was installed
20 A I'would make an assumption it would be the general 20 and that is how you based your installation; is that correct?
21 manager, Tracy Shane at that time. 21 A Yes.
22 Q. And if a driver does do an inspection and they notice 22 Q. Would you say you're a qualified and knowledgeable
23 something wrong, do they come and notify you or do they notify 23 person and understand how the Versa valve product should be
2 somebody else? 24 installed and operated?
25 A Typically they are supposed to notify either -- well, 25 A ['would say [ was, yes.
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Page 114 Page 116
1 Q. And why do you believe that you have that - you're a 1 Q. Okay.
2 qualified, knowledgeable person about how the Versa valve 2 Does MDB require you to have any special license or
3 products are instalied and operated? 3 certificates in order to perform the maintenance on their trucks
4 A It's a general knowledge of mounting pneumatic 4 or trailers?
5 plumbing, duplicating what has been installed in the factory, 5 A No.
6 some wires and air line and bolts. 1 didn't find it to be 100 6 Q. Does MDB require you to do any sort of retraining or
? complicated. 7 updated training each year to perform maintenance on their
8 Q. Correct me if I'm wrong, earlier you testified that 8 trucks and trailers?
9 you did not look at any paperwork regarding installation of the 9 A No.
10 Versa valve; is that correct? 10 Q. Earlier | believe you testified that you have your
11 A That is correct. i theory of atmospheric conditions in the area that could cause
12 Q. Have you ever looked at any paperwork regarding how to 12 the inad vertent dump, is that correct?
13 operate the Versa valve? 13 A I'm sorry, you had your -
14 A 1have not. 14 Q. T'msorry.
15 Q. Okay. 15 If I recall correctly earlier you testified that you
16 When you do your typical inspections, 1 believe you 16 have a theory of atmospheric conditions in the area that could
17 said it occurs weekly or every other week, something like that, 17 have caused an inadvertent dump,; is that correct?
18 do you ever test the Versa valve during that inspection? 18 A That is correct,
19 A 1don't typically test its function, no. 19 Q. And ! believe you testified that there is -- there
20 Q. Have you ever had to — prior to working at MDB have 20 could be a static charge that could energize the magnetic coil
21 you ever rewired trailers before? 21 of the valve, am I correct in what you stated earlier?
22 A Yes, [ have, 22 A That sounds to be correct.
23 Q. Is the rewiring of the trailers that you performed the 23 Q. So would that charge go 1o the electrical wiring that
24 same type of rewiring on the belly dumps that you performed? 24 would be connected to the Versa valve, am | correctly
25 A The same type of wiring? 25 understanding what you mean?
Page 1195 Page 117
Q. Do you rewire the trailer of a belly dump the same way ' A That would be an assumption, but not having enough
2 you would rewire the other trailers that you performed rewiring 2 equipment to test the coil T don't know where it could
3 on? 3 potentially enter to the coil to allow it to open the valve.
4 A Yes, except for the exception there weren't any Versa ¢ Q. Is there another way electricity can enter into the
5 valves on those trailers, yes, standard wiring procedure. 5 coil other than through electrical wires?
6 Q. And did someone teach you how to do that rewiring? 6 MR. BROWN: Objection to the extent it calls for
7 A Pardon? 7 speculation, beyond his knowiedge.
8 Q. Did someone teach you how to do the rewiring of the 8 BY MS. SHREVE:
9 trailer to the Versa valve? 9 Q. That you're aware of?
10 A Yes, over the years I've had journcyman mechanics e A Can you charge your cell phone on one of those pags?
n while | was an apprentice, yes. 11 Yes
iz Q. Earlier | believe you testified that you made the 12 Q. Thank you.
13 decision to purchase the Versa valve in July of 2013; is that 13 So the valve, you believe, can get electricity without
14 correct? 14 going through the electrical wires then; is that corvect?
15 A That is correct. 15 A Thatis a potential,
16 Q. Is there a reason why you decided to purchase the 16 Q. Okay.
17 Versa valve from Engs? 17 Earlier you testified when we were talking about the
18 A Main reason we had an account there and it was known 18 maintenance records, you said sometimes the dates on the
19 that they had the Versa valves in stock. 1s maintenance records are not always the date that you receive —
20 Q. Did you ask anyone at Engs about any other valve to be 20 it's brought to someone's attention that it needs work done; is
2t used on the trailer other than the Versa valve you purchased? 21 that correct?
22 A ldidnot. 22 A That is correct.
23 Q. s there a reason why you did not? 23 Q. What is the typical time frame between when someone is
24 A Mainly is that was as built and that was the valve 2 informed that a truck or trailer needs repair and then the work
25 that the manufacturer chose to install. 25 order is performed?
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Page 118 Page 120
A. To my knowledge it's typically within & day. 1 was no air on the other side of the accumulator to close the
2 Q. Okay. 2 valve. When we replaced the valve everything functioned
3 During your 2013 inspection of the subject truck and 3 properly with no other repair.
¢ trailer, 6775, did you find any defect with the Versa valve? 4 Q. So there was air in the accumulator -- there was air
5 A No, I did not. 5 in the Versa valve, but just when you hit the accumulator it
6 Q. How about for your inspection during July 2014 afier 6 didn't -
7 the subject incident, did you find any defect with the Versa 7 A There was air in the system that should have allowed
8 valve on trailer 6775? 8 the valve to operate properly and the valve did not.
9 A 1did not. 2 Q. Anddid you try to open it and it wouldn't open?
10 Q. After the July 2013 incident on trailer 6775 did you 1o A We could physically operate the valve, but it wasn't
11 find that there was any design defect with the Versa valve? 11 closing with the switch.
12 MR. BROWN: Objection, foundation, speculation, 12 Q. So it worked when you were physically doing it, just
13 THE WITNESS: To my knowledge, no. 13 not with the switch then; is that correct?
1 BY MS. SHREVE: 14 A Correct.
15 Q. And then the same again for after the July 2014 s Q. Okay.
i€ incident on trailer 6775 did you discover any design defects 16 If you can go to Exhibit 3, please. I'm going to go
17 with the Versa valve? 17 to MDB 273, please. This one looks like the work order was for
18 MR. BROWN: Same objections. 18 12/2/2015 on equipment number 5694 and here you replaced the
19 THE WITNESS: To my knowledge, no. 19 4-way plug, you pulled out the wires and reattached wires and
20 BY MS. SHREVE: 20 tested okay.
21 Q. If you will go to Exhibit Number 2, please. I'm going 21 Can you explain to me what you did here?
22 sk that you tum to MDBMAINT000321. The work order date should 22 A Yes, the wires on the 4-way plug from the tractor
23 be December Ist, 2014. Do you see that? 23 apparently to the trailer had been pulled out of the back of the
24 A That's correct. 24 plug for whatever reason and 1 replaced the plug and reattached
25 Q. We were discussing this carlier and it says an 25 the wires and tested it.
Page 119 Page 121
1 accumulator on the Versa valve is not functioning so you 1 Q. Does that happen often that the wires for the 4-way
2 replaced the Versa valve; correct? 2 plug can be pulled out?
3 A. That is correct. 3 A Pardon?
4 Q. You also indicated that you did not test the 4 Q. Does that happen often that the wires on the 4-way
5 accumulator, did I understand your testimony earlier? s plug can be pulled out?
€ A 1didn't have a way of testing the accumulator. When 6 A Not often, but it can be done.
7 I reached the conclusion that it potentially was the accumulator 7 Q. So inthose instances you just will reattach the wires
8 that's when the decision to replace the valve was made. 8 or fix the wires if there is any damage to it?
2 Q. Why did you come to that assumption that it was the 2 A Pardon?
e accumnulator? i Q. So in those instances you will just reattach the wires
1 A By the air, the activation and the path of the air and 1 to the 4-way plug or fix them if for some reason the wires are
12 checking to make sure that we had current running to our coil at 12 damaged?
13 that point in time it reached the position of the Versa valve as 13 A Correct.
14 to not be functioning properly. When [ stated it was possibly 14 Q. I'm going to go to Exhibit 5. Actually I apologize,
15 the accumulator typically that seems to be the most common issue 15 let's go to Exhibit 6. If you can go to MDBMAINT000240.
16 is the accumulator doesn't hold air and when the valve is 16 This is dated 6/30/2014 and earlier you testified it
17 commanded open there is no air to open the valve. 17 was your hand